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STATE OF NEW HAMPSHIRE

DEPARTMENT OF HEALTH AND HUMAN SERVICES

DIVISION FOR BEHA VIORAL HEAL TH

129 PLEASANT STREET, CONCORD, NH 03301
603-271-9544 1-800-852-3345 Ext 9544

Fax:603-271-4332 TDD Access: 1-800-735-2964 www.dhhs.nh.gov

January 7, 2020

His Excellency, Governor Christopher T. Sununu
and the Honorable Council

State House

Concord, New Hampshire 03301

REQUESTED ACTION

Authorize the Department of Health and Human Services, Division for Behavioral Health, to enter
into a retroactive, sole source agreement with Headrest, (Vendor# 175226-R001), 14 Church Street,
Lebanon, NH, 03766, to provide suicide hotline prevention sen/Ices, in an amount not to exceed
$400,000, effective retroactive to July 1, 2019 upon Governor and Executive Council approval through
June 30, 2021. 100% General Funds.

Funds are available in the following account for State Fiscal Years 2020 and 2021, with authority
to adjust budget line items within the price limitation and adjust encumbrances between State Fiscal
Years through the Budget Office if needed and justified.

05-95-92-922010-41170000 Health & Social Services, Department of Health & Human Services,
HHS: Behavioral Health, Div of, Bureau of Mental Health Services, CMH Program Support.

State Fiscal Year Class/Account Class Title Total Amount

2020 102-500731 Contracts for Prog Svc $200,000

2021 102-500731 Contracts for Prog Svc $200,000

Total $400,000

EXPLANATION

This request is retroactive because the funding for these services,, which began July 1, 2019,
was unavailable due to the continuing resolution. Funds became available on September 26, 2019 after
the Governor signed the State Fiscal Year 2020-2021 operating budget into law.

This request is sole source because House Bill 3, of the 2019 New Hampshire Regular
Legislative Session, appropriates $200,000 to the Department each State Fiscal Year and requires it to
fund a New Hampshire-based, nationally accredited suicide hotline service. Headrest is the only agency
in New Hampshire with this accreditation.

The purpose of this request is for Headrest to provide suicide hotline services that offer free and
confidential emotional support to people in a suicidal crisis or emotional distress twenty-four (24) hours
per day, seven (7) days per week. Headrest will respond to callers primarily located in New Hampshire
and provide callers with information and referrals relating to community services.

Each year. Headrest answers and supports approximately 4,000 callers from New Hampshire
who are seeking support through the national suicide prevention lifeline. Therefore, the Department
anticipates approximately this many individuals will be served from July 1, 2019 through June 30, 2020.



His Excellency, Governor Christopher T. Sununu
and the Honorable Council
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Headrest is New Hampshire's only call center accredited through the National Suicide Prevention
Lifeline (NSPL). Headrest answers calls from individuals calling from New Hampshire (and a small
number from other states) who are either experiencing thoughts of suicide themselves, or are calling
about a loved one who may be at risk for suicide. Headrest's trained staff provide callers with information
and referral services, personal support, crisis intervention and suicide intervention. The ten community
mental health centers have twenty-four (24) hours per day, seven (7) days per week services to also
address these types of calls, but have different numbers and/or areas of the state in which they cover.
The NSPL has one number, no matter where in the country the call is made, which makes is easier to
remember, serves individuals who are traveling through the state and also serves individuals who, for a
variety of reasons, may not want to call a community mental health center. This contract will ensure
services designed to prevent suicide are available to New Hampshire residents, link individuals at risk to
services, and provide education to the local community, individuals and families.

The Department will monitor the effectiveness of the Contractor and the delivery of services
required under this contract using the following performance measures:

•  Increased proportion of calls answered in New Hampshire rather than re-routed to an out
of state call center compared to last year.

•  Increased number of follow-ups and communication with callers post crisis compared to
last year.

•  Increased community outreach and education of this service compared to last year.

As referenced in the Exhibit C-1, Revisions to-Standard Contract Language of this contract, the
parties have the option to extend contract services for up to two (2) additional years, contingent upon
satisfactory delivery of services, available funding, agreement of the parties and approval of the Governor
and Executive Council.

Should the Governor and Executive Council not authorize this request, individuals who are at risk
for suicide will not have the lifeline available as a resource and consequently, may follow through on their
thoughts to die. Recent research shows that for every completed suicide, there are 135 people impacted
by the death. The ramifications of even one additional suicide are great. New Hampshire would no
longer have access to a nationally recognized number that links callers to critical services that are
specially designed to prevent suicide.

Area served: Statewide

Source of Funds: 100% General Funds.

Respectfully sub itted.

Kerrin A. Rounds

Acting Commissioner

The DefXirtmenl of HeoUh and Human Services' Mission is to join coninuinilies and families
in providing opportunities for citizens to achieve health and independence.



FORM NUMBER P-37 (version 5/8/15)

Subject: Suicide Hotline Services (SS-2020-DBH-05-SUICI>0n

Notice: This agreement and all of its attachments shall become public upon submission to Governor and
Executive Council for approval. Any information that is private, confidential or proprietary must
be clearly identified to the agency and agreed to in writing prior to signing the contract.

AGREEMENT

The State of New Hampshire and the Contractor hereby mutually agree as follows:

GENERAL PROVISIONS

I. roENTIFICATION.

I. I Slate Agency Name
NH Department of Health and Human Services

1.2 State Agency Address
129 Pleasant Street

Concord, NH 03301-3857

1.3 Contractor Name

Headrest

1.4 Contractor Address

14 Church Street

Lebanon NH 03766

1.5 Contractor Phone

Number

603-448-4872

1.6 Account Number

05-095-092-922010-41170000-

102-500731

1.7 Completion Date

June 30, 2021

1.8 Price Limitation

5400,000

1.9 Contracting Officer for State Agency
Nathan D. White, Director

1.10 Slate Agency Telephone Number
603-271-9631

I.I I Contractor Signature Name and Title of Contractor Signatory

^ roj?/0^
^

1.13 Acknowledgement: S6te of , County of

On . f / 0^'D, before the undersigned officer, personally appeared the person identified in block 1. 12, or satisfactorily
proven to be the person whose name is signed in block 1. 11. and acknowledged that s/hc executed this document in the capacity
"indicated in block 1.12.

.13.1 Signature of Notary Public or Justice of the Peace ZACHAFYJ. MoQARRV,Notaiy Public
My Commission Expires July 10,2024

fSeall

1.13.2 Name and Title of Notary or Justice of the Peace

^  1 1 < .Kl^ffVia1.15 /Name and Title of State Agency Signatory1.14 gene

Date: ICplSoJh
Mb Approval by the N.H. Department of Administration, Division of'Personnel (\fapplicable)

By: Director, On:

1.17 Approval by the Attorney General (Form, Substance and Execution) (if applicable)

By: On: i jojS'
1.18 Approv^ b^hc Governor and Executive Council (ifapplicable)

By: On:
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2. EMPLOYMENT OF CONTRACTOR/SERVICES TO

BE PERFORMED. The State of New Hampshire, acting
through the agency identified in block 1.1 ("State"), engages
contractor identified in block 1.3 ("Contractor") to perform,
and the Contractor shall perform, the work or sale of goods, or
both, identified and more particularly described in the attached
EXHIBIT A which is incorporated herein by reference
("Services").

3. EFFECTIVE DATE/COMPLETION OF SERVICES.

3.1 Notwithstanding any provision of this Agreement to the
contrary, and subject to the approval of the Governor and
Executive Council of the State of New Hampshire, if
applicable, this Agreement, and all obligations of the parties
hereunder, shall become effective on the date the Governor
and Executive Council approve this Agreement as indicated in
block 1.18, unless no such approval is required, in which case

the Agreement shall become effective on the date the
Agreement is signed by the State Agency as shown in block
1.14 ("Effective Date").
3.2 If the Contractor commences the Services prior to the
Effective Date, all Services performed by the Contractor prior
to the Effective Dale shall be performed at the sole risk of the
Contractor, and in the event that this Agreement does not
become effective, the State shall have no liability to the
Contractor, including without limitation, any obligation to pay
the Contractor for any costs incurred or Services performed.
Contractor must complete all Services by the Completion Date
specified in block 1.7.

4. CONDITIONAL NATURE OF AGREEMENT.

Notwithstanding any provision of this Agreement to the
contrary, all obligations of the State hereunder, including,
without limitation, the continuance of payments hereunder, are
contingent upon the availability and continued appropriation
of funds, and in no event shall the State be liable for any
payments hereunder in excess of such available appropriated
funds. In the event of a reduction or termination of

appropriated funds, the State shall have the right to withhold
payment until such funds become available, if ever, and shall
have the right to terminate this Agreement immediately upon
giving the Contractor notice of such termination. The Slate
shall not be required to transfer funds from any other account
to the Account identified in block 1.6 in the event funds in that

Accoimt are reduced or unavailable.

5. CONTRACT PRICE/PRICE LIMITATION/

PAYMENT.

5.1 The contract price, method of payment, and terms of
payment are identified and more particularly described in
EXHIBIT B which is incorporated herein by reference.
5.2 The payment by the State of the contract price shall be the
only and the complete reimbursement to the Contractor for all
expenses, of whatever nature incurred by the Contractor in the
performance hereof, and shall be the only and the complete
compensation to the Contractor for the Services. The Stale
shall have no liability to the Contractor other than the contract
price.
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5.3 The State reserves the right to offset from any amounts
otherwise payable to the Contractor under this Agreement
those liquidated amounts required or permitted by N.H. RSA
80:7 through RSA 80:7-c or any other provision of law.
5.4 Notwithstanding any provision in this Agreement to the
contrary, and notwithstanding unexpected circumstances, in
no event shall the total of all payments authorized, or actually
made hereunder, exceed the Price Limitation set forth in block

1.8.

6. COMPLIANCE BY CONTRACTOR WITH LAWS

AND REGULATIONS/ EQUAL EMPLOYMENT
OPPORTUNITY.

6.1 In connection with the performance of the Services, the
Contractor shall comply with all statutes, laws, regulations,
and orders of federal, state, county or municipal authorities
which impose any obligation or duty upon the Contractor,
including, but not limited to, civil rights and equal opportunity
laws. This may include the requirement to utilize auxiliary
aids and services to ensure that persons with communication
disabilities, including vision, hearing and speech, can
communicate with, receive information from, and convey
information to the Contractor. In addition, the Contractor
shall comply with all applicable copyright laws.
6.2 During the term of this Agreement, the Contractor shall
not discriminate against employees or applicants for
employment because of race, color, religion, creed, age, sex,
handicap, sexual orientation, or national origin and will take
afTirmative action to prevent such discrimination.
6.3 If this Agreement is funded in any part by monies of the
United States, the Contractor shall comply with all the
provisions of Executive Order No. 11246 ("Equal
Employment Opportunity"), as supplemented by the
regulations of the United States Department of Labor (41
C.F.R. Part 60), and with any rules, regulations and guidelines
as the State of New Hampshire or the United States issue to
implement these regulations. The Contractor further agrees to
permit the State or United States access to any of the
Contractor's books, records and accounts for the purpose of
ascertaining compliance with all rules, regulations and orders,
and the covenants, terms and conditions of this Agreement.

7. PERSONNEL.

7.1 The Contractor shall at its own expense provide all
personnel necessary to perform the Services. The Contractor
warrants that all personnel engaged in the Services shall be
qualified to perform the Services, and shall be properly
licensed and otherwise authorized to do so under all applicable
laws.

7.2 Unless otherwise authorized in writing, during the term of
this Agreement, and for a period of six (6) months after the
Completion Date in block 1.7, the Contractor shall not hire,
and shall not permit any subcontractor or other person, firm or
corporation with whom it is engaged in a combined effort to
perform the Services to hire, any person who is a State
employee or official, who is materially involved in the
procurement, administration or performance of this
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Agreement. This provision shall survive termination of this
Agreement.

7.3 The Contracting Officer specified in block 1.9, or his or
her successor, shall be the State's representative. In the event
of any dispute concerning the interpretation of this Agreement,
the Contracting Officer's decision shall be final for the State.

8. EVENT OF DEFAULT/REMEDIES.

8.1 Any one or more of the following acts or omissions of the
Contractor shall constitute an event of default hereunder

("Event of Default");
8.1.1 failure to perform the Services satisfactorily or on
schedule;

8.1.2 failure to submit any report required hereunder; and/or
8.1.3 failure to perform any other covenant, term or condition
of this Agreement.
8.2 Upon the occurrence of any Event of Default, the Slate
may take any one, or more, or all, of the following actions:
8.2.1 give the Contractor a written notice specifying the Event
of Default and requiring it to be remedied within, in the
absence of a greater or lesser specification of lime, thirty (30)
days from the date of the notice; and if the Event of Default is
not timely remedied, terminate this Agreement, effective two
(2) days after giving the Contractor notice of termination;
8.2.2 give the Contractor a written notice specifying the Event
of Default and suspending all payments to be made under this
Agreement and ordering that the portion of the contract price
which would otherwise accrue to the Contractor during the
period from the date of such notice until such time as the State
determines that the Contractor has cured the Event of Default

shall never be paid to the Contractor;
8.2.3 set off against any other obligations the State may owe to
the Contractor any damages the State suffers by reason of any
Event of Default; and/or
8.2.4 treat the Agreement as breached and pursue any of its
remedies at law or in equity, or both.

9. DATA/ACCESS/CONFIDENTIALITV/

PRESERVATION.

9.1 As used in this Agreement, the word "data" shall mean all
information and things developed or obtained during the
performance of, or acquired or developed by reason of, this
Agreement, including, but not limited to, all studies, reports,
files, formulae, surveys, maps, charts, sound recordings, video
recordings, pictorial reproductions, drawings, analyses,
graphic representations, computer programs, computer
printouts, notes, letters, memoranda, papers, and documents,
all whether finished or unfinished.

9.2 All data and any property which has been received from
the State or purchased with funds provided for that purpose
under this Agreement, shall be the property of the State, and
shall be returned to the State upon demand or upon
termination of this Agreement for any reason.
9.3 Confidentiality of data shall be governed by N.H. RSA
chapter 91 -A or other existing law. Disclosure of data
requires prior written approval of the Slate.

Page 3

10. TERMINATION. In the event of an early termination of
this Agreement for any reason other than the completion of the
Services, the Contractor shall deliver to the Contracting
Officer, not later than fifteen (15) days after the date of
termination, a report ("Termination Report") describing in
detail all Services performed, and the contract price earned, to
and including the date of termination. The form, subject
matter, content, and number of copies of the Termination
Report shall be identical to those of any Final Report
described in the attached EXHIBIT A.

11. CONTRACTOR'S RELATION TO THE STATE. In

the performance of this Agreement the Contractor is in all
respects an independent contractor, and is neither an agent nor
an employee of the State. Neither the Contractor nor any of its
officers, employees, agents or members shall have authority to

bind the State or receive any benefits, workers' compensation
or other emoluments provided by the State to its employees.

12. ASSIGNMENT/DELEGATION/SUBCONTRACTS.

The Contractor shall not assign, or otherwise transfer any
interest in this Agreement without the prior written notice and
consent of the State. None of the Services shall be

subcontracted by the Contractor without the prior written
notice and consent of the State.

13. INDEMNIFICATION. The Contractor shall defend,
indemnify and hold harmless the State, its officers and
employees, from and against any and all losses suffered by the
State, its officers and employees, and any and all claims,
liabilities or penalties asserted against the State, its officers
and employees, by or on behalf of any person, on account of,
based or resulting from, arising out of (or which may be
claimed to arise out of) the acts or omissions of the
Contractor. Notwithstanding the foregoing, nothing herein
contained shall be deemed to constitute a waiver of the

sovereign immunity of the State, which immunity is hereby
reserved to the State. This covenant in paragraph 13 shall
survive the termination of this Agreement.

14. INSURANCE.

14.1 The Contractor shall, at its sole expense, obtain and
maintain in force, and shall require any subcontractor or
assignee to obtain and maintain in force, the following
insurance:

14.1.1 comprehensive general liability insurance against all
claims of bodily injury, death or property damage, in amounts
of not less than $ 1,000,000per occurrence and $2,000,000
aggregate ; and
14.1.2 special cause of loss coverage form covering all
property subject to subparagraph 9.2 herein, in an amount not
less than 80% of the whole replacement value of the property.
14.2 The policies described in subparagraph 14.1 herein shall
be on policy forms and endorsements approved for use in the
State of New Hampshire by the N.H. Department of
Insurance, and issued by insurers licensed in the State of New
Hampshire.
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14.3 The Contractor shall furnish to the Contracting Officer
identified in block 1.9, or his or her successor, a certificate(s)
of insurance for all insurance required under this Agreement.
Contractor shall also furnish to the Contracting Officer
identified in block 1.9, or his or her successor, certificate(s) of
insurance for all renewal(s) of insurance required under this
Agreement no later than thirty (30) days prior to the expiration
date of each of the insurance policies. The ccrtificatc(s) of
insurance and any renewals thereof shall be attached and are
incorporated herein by reference. Each certificate(s) of
insurance shall contain a clause requiring the insurer to
provide the Contracting Officer identified in block 1.9, or his
or her successor, no less than thirty (30) days prior written
notice of cancellation or modification of the policy.

15. WORKERS'COMPENSATION.

15.1 By signing this agreement, the Contractor agrees,

certifies and warrants that the Contractor is in compliance with
or exempt from, the requirements of N.H. RSA chapter 281-A
(" Workers' Compensation ").
J5.2 To the extent the Contractor is subject to the
requirements of N.H. RSA chapter 281-A. Contractor shall
maintain, and require any subcontractor or assignee to secure
and maintain, payment of Workers' Compensation in
connection with activities which the person proposes to
undertake pursuant to this Agreement. Contractor shall
furnish the Contracting Officer identified in block 1.9, or his
or her successor, proof of Workers' Compensation in the
manner described in N.H. RSA chapter 281 -A and any
applicable renewal(s) thereof, which shall be attached and are
incorporated herein by reference. The State shall not be
responsible for payment of any Workers' Compensation
premiums or for any other claim or benefit for Contractor, or
any subcontractor or employee of Contractor, which might
arise under applicable State of New Hampshire Workers'
Compensation laws in connection with the performance of the
Services under this Agreement.

such approval is required under the circumstances pursuant to
State law, rule or policy.

19. CONSTRUCTION OF AGREEMENT AND TERMS.

This Agreement shall be construed in accordance with the
laws of the State of New Hampshire, and is binding upon and
inures to the benefit of the parlies and their respective
successors and assigns. The wording used in this Agreement
is the wording chosen by the parties to express their mutual
intent, and no rule of construction shall be applied against or
in favor of any party.

20. THIRD PARTIES. The parties hereto do not intend to
benefit any third parties and this Agreement shall not be
construed to confer any such benefit.

21. HEADINGS. The headings throughout the Agreement

are for reference purposes only, and the words contained
therein shall in no way be held to explain, modify, amplify or
aid in the interpretation, construction or meaning of the
provisions of this Agreement.

22. SPECIAL PROVISIONS. Additional provisions set
forth in the attached EXHIBIT C are incorporated herein by
reference.

23. SEVERABILITV. In the event any of the provisions of

this Agreement are held by a court of competent jurisdiction to
be contrary to any state or federal law, the remaining
provisions of this Agreement will remain in full force and
effect.

24. ENTIRE AGREEMENT. This Agreement, which may
be executed in a number of counterparts, each of which shall
be deemed an original, constitutes the entire Agreement and
understanding between the parties, and supersedes all prior
Agreements and understandings relating hereto.

16. WAIVER OF BREACH. No failure by the State to
enforce any provisions hereof after any Event of Default shall
be deemed a waiver of its rights with regard to that Event of
Default, or any subsequent Event of Default. No express
failure to enforce any Event of Default shall be deemed a
waiver of the right of the State to enforce each and all of the
provisions hereof upon any further or other Event of Default
on the part of the Contractor.

17. NOTICE. Any notice by a party hereto to the other party
shall be deemed to have been duly delivered or given at the
time of mailing by certified mail, postage prepaid, in a United
States Post Office addressed to the parties at the addresses
given in blocks 1.2 and 1.4, herein.

18. AMENDMENT. This Agreement may be amended,
waived or discharged only by an instrument in writing signed
by the parties hereto and only after approval of such
amendment, waiver or discharge by the Governor and
Executive Council of the Stale of New Hampshire unless no
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New Hampshire Department of Health and Human Services
Suicide Hotline Services

Exhibit A

Scope of Services

1. Provisions Applicable to All Services

1.1. The Contractor shall submit a detailed description of the language assistance
services they will provide to persons with limited English proficiency to ensure
meaningful access to their programs and/or services within ten (10) days of the
contract effective date.

1.2. The Contractor shall participate in a kick-off meeting with the Department within
10 days of the contract effective date to review contract timelines, scope, and
deliverables.

1.3. The Contractor agrees that, to the extent future state or federal legislation or
court orders may have an impact on the Services described herein, the
Department has the right to modify Service priorities and expenditure
requirements under this Agreement so as to achieve compliance therewith.

1.4. For the purposes of this Agreement, the Department has identified the
Contractor as a Subrecipient, in accordance with 2 CFR 200.300.

2. Scope of Work

2.1. The Contractor shall provide suicide hotline services twenty-four (24) hours per
day, seven (7) days per week to respond to callers primarily located in New
Hampshire to attempt to prevent threatened suicides, de-escalate crises, and
provide callers with information and referrals relating to community services.

2.2. The Contractor shall provide suicide hotline services in accordance with the
Contractor's Network Agreement with the fvlental Health Association of New
York City, Inc. whereas the Contractor participates as a crisis intervention center
within the National Suicide Prevention Lifeline Network, funded through the
Substance Abuse and Mental Health Services Administration (SAMHSA).

2.3. The Contractor shall maintain their Network Agreement in Section 2.2 above.

2.4. The Contractor shall maintain their national accreditation as a suicide hotline

service and provide the Department with a copy of any renewal within five (5)
days said certification.

2.5. The Contractor shall ask the callers about suicidality and complete a suicide risk
assessment that incorporates the principles and subcomponents described in
the Network Agreement referenced in Section 2.2 above.

2.6. The Contractor shall engage callers and initiate all measures to secure the
safety of the callers for whom there is information that a suicide attempt has
already been made, or at imminent risk of suicide using the practices of
engagement described In the Network Agreement.

2.7. The Contractor shall follow up with callers post crisis to ensure they are
connected to other services as applicable.

Headrest Exhibit A Contractor Initials CI
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New Hampshire Department of Health and Human Services
Suicide Hotline Services

Exhibit A

2.8. The Contractor shall maintain written guidelines, policies, and procedures for
how staff shall respond to and assist callers determined by the Contractor to be
a danger to themselves or to others such as but not limited to:
2.8.1. How to conduct a lethality assessment of the applicable risk level;
2.8.2. Procedures applicable to the dispatch of rescue personnel, including,

without limitation, in those instances where a Caller refuses to
volunteer cooperation; and

2.8.3. Procedures applicable to follow-up with the Caller.
2.9. The Contractor shall answer calls within the National Suicide Prevention Lifeline

Network's timeframe standards of "six (6) rings" before the call is routed to an
out of state call center at least seventy percent (70%) of the time.

2.10. The Contractor shall not:

2.10.1. Utilize an answering service or cellular telephones to answer incoming
calls;

2.10.2. Utilize an automated attendant or any other system that requires a
caller to press a telephone key in order to be connected with Center
Staff;

2.10.3. Fonward incoming calls to a third party; and
2.10.4. Allow calls to be answered by a receptionist or any Center Staff not

trained to assist Callers.

2.11. The Contractor shall maintain written guidelines, policies, and procedures for
how to refer callers to community services so that callers are given an
appropriate array of options with respect to treatment, care and/or follow-up;
options shall not be limited in any manner to organizations, facilities or providers
affiliated with or related to the Center.

2.12. The Contractor shall maintain a call log and document the Information when the
caller provides such Information as. Including but not limited to:

2.12.1. Date, time, and reason for the call;
2.12.2. Age, gender, ethnicity, race and zip code or location or residence of

caller;

2.12.3. What prompted the call;
2.12.4. Caller's mental health/substance abuse treatment history;
2.12.5. Caller's relationship to disaster (if any);
2.12.6. Number of referrals provided and where made the referrals to;
2.12.7. Whether the caller required emergency outreach services; and
2.12.8. To the extent applicable, the manner in which the caller learned of the

suicide prevention lifeline.
2.13. The Contractor shall ensure proper staffing at all times.
2.14. The Contractor shall provide the Department with copies of their written policies

and procedures for providing the suicide hotline service, including but not limited
to:

2.14.1. Supervision and training requirements;
2.14.2. Code of ethics;

2.14.3. Grievance process; and
Exhibit A Contractor Initials C T(^Headrest

SS-2020-DBH-05-SUICI Page 2 of 5 Date
Rev.09/06/18



New Hampshire Department of Health and Human Services
Suicide Hotline Services

Exhibit A

2.14.4. Quality Assurance and program evaluation.
2.15. The Contractor shall ensure that staff receive all necessary training (prior to their

responding to calls) in accordance with guidelines in Section 2.2.
2.16. The Contractor shall provide ongoing in-service training for staff at intervals

deemed sufficient for ensuring continuous quality service.
2.17. The Contractor shall collaborate with the Department and other providers,

including but not limited to Granite United Way, which operates 211 in New
Hampshire, to educate communities and provide online and printed information
and resources for statewide distribution.

2.18. The Contractor shall attend the State's Emergency Service meetings as
requested.

3. Reporting

3.1. The Contractor shall report de-identified data outlined in Section 2.12 above on
a monthly basis.

3.2. The Contractor shall report monthly the following number of:
3.2.1. Calls received:

3.2.2. The number of follows up contacts by the Contractor with the caller
post crisis;

3.2.3. Referrals and the reasons for the referrals and for what type of service;
3.2.4. Answered calls locally in New Hampshire and the number of calls that

were re-routed to another out of state call center; and

3.2.5. Outreach and education efforts with a description of what was done
and results, if it can be determined.

3.3. The Contractor shall provide:
3.3.1. For each submission, a copy of the national suicide prevention report

for New Hampshire that is submitted to the National Suicide Prevention
Lifeline: and

3.3.2. A copy of the Accreditation certificate within 10 days of the effective
date of this contract.

4. Performance Measures

4.1. The Contractor's performance shall be measured by the:
4.1.1. Increased portion of calls answered in state rather than re-routed to an

out of state call center compared to last year;
4.1.2. Increased number of follow-ups and communication with callers post

crisis compared to last year; and
4.1.3. Increased community outreach and education of this service compared

to last year.

5. Maintenance of Fiscal Integrity

5.1. In order to enable the Department to evaluate the Contractor's fiscal integrity,
the Contractor agrees to submit to the Department monthly, the Balance Sheet,
Profit and Loss Statement, and Cash Flow Statement for the Contractor. The
Profit and Loss Statement shall include a budget column allowing for budg^to
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New Hampshire Department of Health and Human Services
Suicide Hotline Services

Exhibit A

actual analysis. Statements shall be submitted within thirty (30) calendar days
after each month end. The Contractor shall be evaluated on the following:
5.1.1. Days of Cash on Hand:

5.1.1.1. Definition: The days of operating expenses that can be covered
by the unrestricted cash on hand.

5.1.1.2. Formula: Cash, cash equivalents and short term investments
divided by total operating expenditures, less
depreciation/amortization and in-kind plus principal payments on
debt divided by days in the reporting period. The short-term
investments as used above shall mature within three (3) months
and should not include common stock.

5.1.1.3. Performance Standard: The Contractor shall have enough cash
and cash equivalents to cover expenditures for a minimum of
thirty (30) calendar days with no variance allowed.

5.1.2. Current Ratio:

5.1.2.1. Definition: A measure of the Contractor's total current assets

available to cover the cost of current liabilities.

5.1.2.2. Formula: Total current assets divided by total current liabilities.
5.1.2.3. Performance Standard: The Contractor shall maintain a

minimum current ratio of 1.5:1 with 10% variance allowed.

5.1.3. Debt Service Coverage Ratio:
5.1.3.1. Rationale: This ratio illustrates the Contractor's ability to cover

the cost of its current portion of its long-term debt.
5.1.3.2. Definition: The ratio of Net Income to the year to date debt

service.

5.1.3.3. Formula: Net Income plus Depreciation/Amortization Expense
plus Interest Expense divided by year to date debt service
(principal and interest) over the next twelve (12) months.

5.1.3.4. Source of Data: The Contractor's Monthly Financial Statements
identifying current portion of long-term debt payments (principal
and interest).

5.1.3.5. Performance Standard: The Contractor shall maintain a

minimum standard of 1.2:1 with no variance allowed.

5.1.4. Net Assets to Total Assets:

5.1.4.1. Rationale: This ratio is an indication of the Contractor's ability to
cover its liabilities.

5.1.4.2. Definition: The ratio of the Contractor's net assets to total

assets.

5.1.4.3. Formula: Net assets (total assets less total liabilities) divided by
total assets.

5.1.4.4. Source of Data: The Contractor's Monthly Financial Statements.
5.1.4.5. Performance Standard: The Contractor shall maintain a

minimum ratio of .30:1, with a 20% variance allowed.
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New Hampshire Department of Health and Human Services
Suicide Hotline Services

Exhibit A

5.2. In order to enable the Departmentto evaluate the Contractor's fiscal integrity,
the Contractor agrees to submit to the Department monthly, the Balance Sheet,
the Profit and Loss statement for the month and year-to-date for the agency
and the Profit and Loss statement for the month and year-to-date for the
program being funded with this contract.

5.3. In the event that the Contractor does not meet either;

5.3.1. The standard regarding Days of Cash on Hand and the standard
regarding Current Ratio for two (2) consecutive months; or

5.3.2. Three (3) or more of any of the Maintenance of Fiscal Integrity
standards for three (3) consecutive months, then

5.3.3. The Department may require that the Contractor meet with Department
staff to explain the reasons that the Contractor has not met the
standards.

5.3.4. The Department may require the Contractor to submit a
comprehensive corrective action plan within thirty (30) calendar days of
notification that 8.2.1 and/or 8.2.2 have not been met.

5.3.4.1. The Contractor shall update the corrective action plan at least
every thirty (30) calendar days until compliance is achieved.

5.3.4.2. The Contractor shall provide additional information to assure
continued access to services as requested by the Department.
The Contractor shall provide requested information in a
timeframe agreed upon by both parties.

5.4. The Contractor shall inform the Department by phone and by email within
twenty-four (24) hours of when any key Contractor staff learn of any actual or
likely litigation, investigation, complaint, claim, or transaction that may
reasonably be considered to have a material financial impact on and/or
materially impact or impair the ability of the Contractor to perform under this
Agreement with the Department.

5.5. The monthly Balance Sheet, Profit & Loss Statement, Cash Flow Statement,
and all other financial reports shall be based on the accrual method of
accounting and include the Contractor's total revenues and expenditures
whether or not generated by or resulting from funds provided pursuant to this
Agreement. These reports are due within thirty (30) calendar days after the end
of each month.
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New Hampshire Department of Heatth and Human Services
Suicide Hotline Services

Exhibit B

Method and Conditions Precedent to Payment

1. The State shall pay the Contractor an amount not to exceed the Form P-37, Block 1.8,
Price Limitation for the services provided pursuant to Exhibit A, Scope of Services.

2. This Agreement is funded with State general funds.

2.1. The Contractor shall use the funding in accordance with Exhibit A, Scope of
Services, Sections 2.2.

3. Failure to meet the scope of services may jeopardize the funded Contractor's current
and/or future funding.

4. The Contractor may submit a one time invoice for expenses incurred July 1, 2019
through the date Governor and Executive Council approve this Agreement. The invoice
must be submitted in accordance with the Department's instructions and as outline in
this Exhibit B, along with proof of actual expenditures.

5. Payment for said services shall be made monthly as follows:

5.1. Payment shall be on a cost reimbursement basis for actual expenditures incurred
In the fulfillment of this Agreement, and shall be in accordance with the approved
line items as specified in Exhibit B-1, Budget and Exhibit B-2, Budget.

5.2. The Contractor shall submit an invoice in a form provided by the State by the
twentieth (20^^) working day of each month, which identifies and requests
reimbursement for authorized expenses incurred in the prior month.

5.3. The Contractor shall ensure the invoice is completed, signed, dated and returned
to the Department in order to initiate payment.

5.4. The State shall make payment to the Contractor within thirty (30) days of receipt
of each invoice, subsequent to approval of the submitted invoice and if sufficient
funds are available.

6. The Contractor shall keep detailed records of their activities related to Department-
funded programs and services and have records available for Department review, as
requested.

7. The Contractor shall submit a profit and loss statement that coresponds to each monthly
invoice.

8. The final invoice shall be due to the State no later than forty (40) days after the contract
completion date specified in Form P-37, General Provisions Block 1.7 Completion Date.
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New Hampshire Department of Health and Human Services
Suicide Hotline Services

Exhibit B

9. In lieu of hard copies, all invoices may be assigned an electronic signature and emailed
to Tanja.Godtfredsen@dhhs.nh.gov, or invoices may be mailed to:

Financial Administrator

Department of Health and Human Services
Division for Behavioral Health

105 Pleasant Street

Concord. NH 03301

10. Payments may be withheld pending receipt of required reports or documentation as
identified in Exhibit A, Scope of Services and in this Exhibit 8.

11. Notwithstanding anything to the contrary herein, the Contractor agrees that funding
under this agreement may be withheld, in whole or in part, in the event of non-
compliance with any Federal or State law, rule or regulation applicable to the services
provided, or if the said services or products have not been satisfactorily completed in
accordance with the terms and conditions of this agreement.

12. Notwithstanding paragraph 18 of the General Provisions P-37, changes limited to
adjusting amounts between budget line items, related items, amendments of related
budget exhibits within the price limitation, and to adjusting encumbrances between
State Fiscal Years, may be made by written agreement of both parties and may be
made without obtaining approval of the Governor and Executive Council.
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COMPLETE ONE BUDGET FORM FOR EACH BUDGET PERIOD

CcntTsctof fwme HMdnM

Sude*) Hiquiit lor Suicldt HoUbM Sfytei

BudgM Pwlotf: Juty t.Wt through June 30,2020

Una Hem Direct .; t

Total ProBfam Cost

bKSreet, •Total

• Contractor Share I iilateh

Direct Indirect Total- •> Direct'

■■. Furtded by DHHS eontraci ahare
Indirect .. Total ^

1 ■ Total Salary/Wages 158.143.00 67,771.06 225,914.06 67,771.06 67,771,06 158,143.00 158,143.00
2. Emplovee Benefits 23.307.93 23.307.93 23,307.93 23,307.93
3. Consultants
4. Eoulofnent:

Rental 956.15 956.15 956.15 956.15
Repair and Maintenanca
PurchasafDepreciation

5. Suoolies:
Educational 375.00 375.00 375.00 375.00
Lab
Phannacv
Medical
Office 438.00 438.00 438,00 436.00

6. Travel 500.00 500.00 500.00 500.00
7. Occioancv 4,601.11 4.601.11 4,601.11 4,601.11
8. Curent Expenses

Telephone 1,434.50 1.434.50 1.434.50 1,434.50
Postage
Subscriptions
Audit and Leoai 4,759.25 4,759.25 2,500.00 2,500.00 &2S9.2S 2,259.25
Insurance 4.920.00 4.920.00 3.147.54 3.147.54 1.77^46 t.772.46
Board Expenses

9. SolTware 600.00 600.00 600.00 600.00
10. MaffcetinalCommunications 4.662.60 4,662.60 4,662.60 4,662.60
11. Staff Education and Trajrwq 1,550.00 1,550.00 1.550-00 1.550.00
12. SubcontractsfAgreefnents
13. Other (specitic detaib mandatofvl:

i  - TOTAL •
MIrtei A* A PateeM of DIreci

• 185,410.43 88,608.17. 274,018.60 600.00 73,418.60 $ - o, 74,018.60 :M64,810A3 ,• 15.189.57 -200,000.00
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New Hampshire Department of Health and Human Servlcea

COMPLETE ONE BUDGET FORM FOR EACH BUDGET PERIOD

DudsM RaquMt lor. SuicU* HoHn* Syvlct

eud9«( Parted;July 1.2020 Ihrough June 30, 2021

"  ; , ..1 . Total Program Cost . .' . Contractor Share / Match i'i>. - „• • ■ Funded by DHHS contract share '
Ufteltem-- -*':! -  Direct . •' . Indirect , .  Total . 1' Direct •.>« - ^  .. Indirect' Total.-*-.-;sr fV- ; 'Direct' -• ToUl
^. Total Salary/Wages S  158.143.00 S  69.804.19 $  227.947.19 S S  69.804.19 $  69,804,19 S  158,143.00 S  158.143.00
2. Employee Benefits S  23.307.93 S S  23.307.93 s S S  23.307.93 « 5  23.307.93
3. Consuliants $ s $ s <

4. Equipment; $ s s S s S
Rental $ S  956.15 S  956.15 s 5  956.15 5  956.15
Repair and Maintenance $ s s

Purchase/Depreciation s $
S. Suppbes: 5 $ «

Educational $  375.00 S  375.00 $ s $  375.00 c S  375.00
1 ah $ s s S
Pharmacy $ $ $ J $ j <

Medical $ s $ 5 $ 5 t j
Office $ S  438.00 S  438.00 s % $ $  438.00 S  438,00

6. Travel $ S  500.00 S  500.00 s $ $ 5  500.00 5  500.00
7. Occupancy S  4.601.11 S  4.601.11 $ S « S  4.601.11 S  4,601,11
8. Current ExoerBfts $ $ s $ $ $

Telephone S  1.434.50 S  1.434.50 s S $  1.434.50 s 5  1,434.50
Postage $ s $
Subscnpoons $ $ «

Audit and Legal S  4.834.25 5  4,834.25 s $  2.575.00 S  2.575.00 $  ̂̂ 59.2S 5  2.259.25
Insurance S  5.014.43 5  5,014.43 s S  3.241.97 $  3.241.97 S  1.772.46 S  1.772.46
Board Expenses S $ $ S 5

9. Software S  618.00 $ S  618.00 5  618.00 $ $  618.00 j
10. Marketinq/Communications $ S  4.662.60 5  4.662.60 S $ s S  4.662.60 S  4.662.60
11. Staff Education and Training S  t.550.00 s S  1.550.00 s s S  1.550.00 S  1,550.00
12. SutxxKitracts/Agreements $ s 5 s s j c

13. Other fspecific delaJb marxfalocv): ? s s 5 $ $

$ s s $ j

5 s $ 5 j

5 s $ 5 $
, TOTALY'; • • $:■ -185,428.43 t  >>•0,810.73 S  > 278,239.16 -$ 618.00 75,621.16^ :$ .i;-^>78,239.1B 6' - 184,810.43 $. . -15.189.57., $• r . 200,000.00
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New Hampshire Department of Health and Human Services
Exhibit C

SPECIAL PROVISIONS

Contractors Obligations: The Contractor covenants and agrees that all funds received by the Contractor
under the Contract shall be used only as payment to the Contractor for services provided to eligible
individuals and, in the furtherance of the aforesaid covenants, the Contractor hereby covenants and
agrees as follows:

1. Compliance with Federal and State Laws: If the Contractor Is permitted to determine the eligibility
of individuals such eligibility determination shall be made in accordance with applicable federal and
state laws, regulations, orders, guidelines, policies and procedures.

2. Time and Manner of Determination: Eligibility determinations shall be made on forms provided by
the Department for that purpose and shall be made and remade at such times as are prescribed by
the Department.

3. Documentation: In addition to the determination forms required by the Department, the Contractor
shall maintain a data file on each recipient of services hereunder, which file shall include ail
information necessary to support an eligibility determination and such other information as the
Department requests. The Contractor shall furnish the Department with all forms and documentation
regarding eligibility determinations that the Department may request or require.

4. Fair Hearings: The Contractor understands that all applicants for services hereunder, as well as
individuals declared ineligible have a right to a fair hearing regarding that determination. The
Contractor hereby covenants and agrees that all applicants for sen/ices shall be permitted to fill out
an application form and that each applicant or re-applicant shall be informed of his/her right to afair
hearing in accordance with Department regulations.

5. Gratuities or Kickbacks: The Contractor agrees that it is a breach of this Contract to accept or
make a payment, gratuity or offer of employment on behalf of the Contractor, any Sub-Contractor or
the State in order to influence the performance of the Scope of Work detailed in Exhibit A of this
Contract. The State may terminate this Contract and any sub-contract or sub-agreement if it is
determined that payments, gratuities or offers of employment of any kind were offered or received by
any officials, officers, employees or agents of the Contractor or Sub-Contractor.

6. Retroactive Payments: Notwithstanding anything to the contrary contained In the Contract or inany
other document, contract or understanding, it is expressly understood and agreed by the parties
hereto, that no payments will be made hereunder to reimburse the Contractor for costs incurred for
any purpose or for any services provided to any individual prior to the Effective Date of the Contract
and no payments shall be made for expenses incurred by the Contractor for any services provided
prior to the date on which the individual applies for services or (except as otherwise provided by the
federal regulations) prior to a determination that the individual is eligible for such services.

7. Conditions of Purchase: Notwithstanding anything to the contrary contained in the Contract, nothing
herein contained shall be deemed to obligate or require the Department to purchase services
hereunder at a rate which reimburses the Contractor in excess of the Contractors costs, at a rate
which exceeds the amounts reasonable and necessary to assure the quality of such service, or at a
rate which exceeds the rate charged by the Contractor to ineligible individuals or other third party
funders for such service. If at any time during the term of this Contract or after receipt of the Final
Expenditure Report hereunder, the Department shall determine that the Contractor has used
payments hereunder to reimburse items of expense other than such costs, or has received payment
in excess of such costs or in excess of such rates charged by the Contractor to ineligible individuals
or other third party funders, the Department may elect to:

7.1. Renegotiate the rates for payment hereunder, in which event new rates shall be established;
7.2: Deduct from any future payment to the Contractor the amount of any prior reimbursement in

excess of costs;
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New Hampshire Department of Health and Human Services
Exhibit C

7.3. Demand repayment of the excess payment by the Contractor in which event failure to make
such repayment shall constitute an Event of Default hereunder. When the Contractor is
permitted to determine the eligibility of individuals for services, the Contractor agrees to
reimburse the Department for all funds paid by the Department to the Contractor for services
provided to any Individual who Is found by the Department to be ineligible for such services at
any time during the period of retention of records established herein.

RECORDS: MAINTENANCE, RETENTION. AUDIT. DISCLOSURE AND CONFIDENTIALITY:

8. Maintenance of Records: In addition to the eligibility records specified above, the Contractor
covenants and agrees to maintain the following records during the Contract Period:

8.1. Fiscal Records: books, records, documents and other data evidencing and reflecting all costs
and other expenses Incurred by the Contractor in the performance of the Contract, and all
income received or collected by the Contractor during the Contract Period, said records to be
maintained in accordance with accounting procedures and practices which sufficiently and
properly reflect all such costs and expenses, and which are acceptable to the Department, and
to include, without limitation, all ledgers, books, records, and original evidence of costs such as
purchase requisitions and orders, vouchers, requisitions for materials, inventories, valuations of
In-kind contributions, labor time cards, payrolls, and other records requested or required by the
Department.

8.2. Statistical Records: Statistical, enrollment, attendance or visit records for each recipient of
services during the Contract Period, which records shall include all records of application and
eligibility (including all forms required to determine eligibility for each such recipient), records
regarding the provision of services and all invoices submitted to the Department to obtain
payment for such services.

8.3. Medical Records: Where appropriate and as prescribed by the Department regulations, the
Contractor shall retain medical records on each patient/recipient of services.

9. Audit: Contractor shall submit an annual audit to the Department within 60 days after the close ofthe
agency fiscal year. It is recommended that the report be prepared in accordance with the provision of
Office of Management and Budget Circular A-133, "Audits of States, Local Governments, and Non
Profit Organizations" and the provisions of Standards for Audit of Governmental Organizations,
Programs. Activities and Functions, issued by the US General Accounting Office (GAO standards) as
they pertain to financial compliance audits.

9.1. Audit and Review: During the term of this Contract and the period for retention hereunder. the
Department, the United States Department of Health and Human Services, and any of their
designated representatives shall have access to all reports and records maintained pursuantto
the Contract for purposes of audit, examination, excerpts and transcripts.

9.2. Audit Liabilities: In addition to and not in any way in limitation of obligations of the Contract, it is
understood and agreed by the Contractor that the Contractor shall be held liable for any state
or federal audit exceptions and shall return to the Department, all payments made under the
Contract to which exception has been taken or which have been disallowed because of such an
exception.

10. Confidentiality of Records: All information, reports, and records maintained hereunder or collected
in connection with the performance of the services and the Contract shall be confidential and shall not
be disclosed by the Contractor, provided however, that pursuant to state laws and the regulations of
the Department regarding the use and disclosure of such information, disclosure may be made to
public officials requiring such information in connection with their official duties and for purposes
directly connected to the administration of the sen/ices and the Contract; and provided further, that
the use or disclosure by any party of any information concerning a recipient for any purpose not
directly connected with the administration of the Department or the Contractor's responsibilities with
respect to purchased services hereunder is prohibited except on written consent of the recipient, his
attorney or guardian.

Exhibit C - Special Provisions Contractor Initials
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Notwithstanding anything to the contrary contained herein the covenants and conditions contained in
the Paragraph shall survive the termination of the Contract for any reason whatsoever.

11. Reports: Fiscal and Statistical; The Contractor agrees to submit the following reports at the following
times if requested by the Department.
11.1. Interim Financial Reports: Written interim financial reports containing a detailed description of

all costs and non-allowable expenses incurred by the Contractor to the date of the report and
containing such other information as shall be deemed satisfactory by the Department to
justify the rate of payment hereunder. Such Financial Reports shall be submitted on the form
designated by the Department or deemed satisfactory by the Department.

11.2. Final Report: A final report shall be submitted within thirty (30) days after the end of the term
of this Contract. The Final Report shall be in a form satisfactory to the Department and shall
contain a summary statement of progress toward goals and objectives stated in the Proposal
and other information required by the Department.

12. Completion of Services: Disallowance of Costs: Upon the purchase by the Department of the
maximum number of units provided for in the Contract and upon payment of the price limitation
hereunder, the Contract and all the obligations of the parties hereunder (except such obligations as,
by the terms of the Contract are to be performed after the end of the term of this Contract and/or
survive the termination of the Contract) shall terminate, provided however, that if, upon review ofthe
Final Expenditure Report the Department shall disallow any expenses claimed by the Contractor as
costs hereunder the Department shall retain the right, at its discretion, to deduct the amount of such
expenses as are disallowed or to recover such sums from the Contractor.

13. Credits: All documents, notices, press releases, research reports and other materials prepared
during or resulting from the performance of the services of the Contract shall include the following
statement:

13.1. The preparation of this (report, document etc.) was financed under a Contract with the State
of New Hampshire, Department of Health and Human Services, with funds provided in part
by the State of New Hampshire and/or such other funding sources as were available or
required, e.g., the United States Department of Health and Human Services.

14. Prior Approval and Copyright Ownership: All materials (written, video, audio) produced or
purchased under the contract shall have prior approval from DHHS before printing, production,
distribution or use. The DHHS will retain copyright ownership for any and all original materials
produced, including, but not limited to, brochures, resource directories, protocols or guidelines,
posters, or reports. Contractor shall not reproduce any materials produced under the contract without
prior written approval from DHHS.

15. Operation of Facilities: Compliance with Laws and Regulations: In the operation of any facilities
for providing services, the Contractor shall comply with all laws, orders and regulations of federal,
state, county and municipal authorities and with any direction of any Public Officer or officers
pursuant to laws which shall impose an order or duty upon the contractor with respect to the
operation of the facility or the provision of the services at such facility. If any governmental license or
permit shall be required for the operation of the said facility or the performance of the said services,
the Contractor will procure said license or permit, and will at all times comply with the terms and
conditions of each such license or permit. In connection with the foregoing requirements, the
Contractor hereby covenants and agrees that, during the term of this Contract the facilities shall
comply with all rules, orders, regulations, and requirements of the State Office of the Fire Marshaland
the local fire protection agency, and shall be in conformance with local building and zoning codes, by
laws and regulations.

16. Equal Employment Opportunity Plan (EEOR): The Contractor will provide an Equal Employment
Opportunity Plan (EEOP) to the Office for Civil Rights, Office of Justice Programs (OCR), if it has
received a single award of $500,000 or more. If the recipient receives $25,000 or more and has 50 or
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more employees, it will maintain a current EEOP on file and submit an EEOP Certification Form to the
OCR, certifying that its EEOP is on file. For recipients receiving less than $25,000, or public grantees
with fewer than 50 employees, regardless of the amount of the award, the recipient will provide an
EEOP Certification Form to the OCR certifying it is not required to submit or maintain an EEOP. Non
profit organizations, Indian Tribes, and medical and educational institutions are exempt from the
EEOP requirement, but are required to submit a certification form to the OCR to claim the exemption.
EEOP Certification Forms are available at: http://www.ojp.usdoj/about/ocr/pdfs/cert.pdf.

17. Limited English Proficiency (LEP): As clarified by Executive Order 13166, Improving Access to
Services for persons with Limited English Proficiency, and resulting agency guidance, national origin
discrimination includes discrimination on the basis of limited English proficiency (LEP). To ensure
compliance with the Omnibus Crime Control and Safe Streets Act of 1968 and Title VI of the Civil
Rights Act of 1964, Contractors must take reasonable steps to ensure that LEP persons have
meaningful access to its programs.

18. Pilot Program for Enhancement of Contractor Employee Whistleblower Protections: The
following shall apply to all contracts that exceed the Simplified Acquisition Threshold as defined in48
CFR 2.101 (currently, $150,000)

Contractor Employee Whistleblower Rights and Requirement To Inform Employees of

Whistleblower Rights (SEP 2013)

(a) This contract and employees working on this contract will be subject to the whistleblower rights
and remedies in the pilot program on Contractor employee whistleblower protections established at
41 U.S.C. 4712 by section 828 of the National Defense Authorization Act for Fiscal Year 2013 (Pub. L.
112-239) and FAR 3.908.

(b) The Contractor shall inform its employees in writing, in the predominant language of the workforce,
of employee whistleblower rights and protections under 41 U.S.C. 4712, as described in section
3.908 of the Federal Acquisition Regulation.

(c) The Contractor shall insert the substance of this clause, including this paragraph (c), in all
subcontracts over the simplified acquisition threshold.

19. Subcontractors: DHHS recognizes that the Contractor may choose to use subcontractors with
greater expertise to perform certain health care services or functions for efficiency or convenience,
but the Contractor shall retain the responsibility and accountability for the function(s). Prior to
subcontracting, the Contractor shall evaluate the subcontractor's ability to perform the delegated
function(s). This is accomplished through a written agreement that specifies activities and reporting
responsibilities of the subcontractor and provides for revoking the delegation or imposing sanctions if
the subcontractor's performance is not adequate. Subcontractors are subject to the same contractual
conditions as the Contractor and the Contractor is responsible to ensure subcontractor compliance
with those conditions.

When the Contractor delegates a function to a subcontractor, the Contractor shall do the following:

19.1. Evaluate the prospective subcontractor's ability to perform the activities, before delegating
the function

19.2. Have a written agreement with the subcontractor that specifies activities and reporting
responsibilities and how sanctions/revocation will be managed if the subcontractor's
performance is not adequate

19.3. Monitor the subcontractor's performance on an ongoing basis
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19.4. Provide to DHHS an annuai scheduie identifying aii subcontractors, delegated functionsand
responsibilities, and when the subcontractor's performance will be reviewed

19.5. DHHS shall, at its discretion, review and approve ail subcontracts.

if the Contractor Identifies deficiencies or areas for improvement are identified, the Contractor shall
take corrective action.

20. Contract Definitions:

20.1. COSTS; Shall mean those direct and indirect items of expense determined by the Department
to be allowable and reimbursable in accordance with cost and accounting principles established
in accordance with state and federal laws, regulations, rules and orders.

20.2. DEPARTMENT: NH Department of Health and Human Services.

20.3. PROPOSAL: if applicable, shall mean the document submitted by the Contractor on a
form or forms required by the Department and containing a description of the services and/or
goods to be provided by the Contractor in accordance with the terms and conditions of the
Contract and setting forth the total cost and sources of revenue for each service to be provided
under the Contract.

20.4. UNIT: For each service that the Contractor is to provide to eligible individuals hereunder, shall
mean that period of time or that specified activity determined by the Department and specified
in Exhibit B of the Contract.

20.5. FEDERAL/STATE LAW: Wherever federal or state laws, regulations, rules, orders, and
policies, etc. are referred to in the Contract, the said reference shall be deemed to mean
all such laws, regulations, etc. as they may be amended or revised from time to time.

20.6. SUPPLANTING OTHER FEDERAL FUNDS: Funds provided to the Contractor under this
Contract will not supplant any existing federal funds available for these services.
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REVISIONS TO STANDARD CONTRACT LANGUAGE

1. Revisions to Form P-37, General Provisions

1.1. Subparagraph 3, Section 3.1 of the General Provisions of this Contract, Effective
Date/Completion of Services is amended to read as follows:
3.1 Notwithstanding any provision of this Agreement to the contrary, and subject to the

approval of the Governor and Executive Council of the State of New Hampshire as
indicated in block 1.18, this Agreement, and all obligations of the parties hereunder, shall
become effective on July 1, 2019 ("Effective Date").

1.2. Section 4, Conditional Nature of Agreement, is replaced as follows:

4. CONDITIONAL NATURE OF AGREEMENT.

Notwithstanding any provision of this Agreement to the contrary, all obligations of the State
hereunder, including without limitation, the continuance of payments, in whole or In part,
under this Agreement are contingent upon continued appropriation or availability of funds,
including any subsequent changes to the appropriation or availability of funds affected by
any state or federal legislative or executive action that reduces, eliminates, or otherwise
modifies the appropriation or availability of funding for this Agreement and the Scope of
Services provided in Exhibit A, Scope of Services, in whole or in part. In no event shall the
State be liable for any payments hereunder in excess of appropriated or available funds. In
the event of a reduction, termination or modification of appropriated or available funds, the
State shall have the right to withhold payment until such funds become available, if ever. The
State shall have the right to reduce, terminate or modify services under this Agreement
immediately upon giving the Contractor notice of such reduction, termination or modification.
The State shall not be required to transfer funds from any other source or account into the
Account(s) identified in block 1.6 of the General Provisions, Account Number, or any other
account in the event funds are reduced or unavailable.

1.3. Section 10, Termination, is amended by adding the following language:

10.1 Funds for this contract are appropriated to the Department and may only be used to fund a
New Hampshire-based, nationally-accredited suicide hotline service as provided for in House
Bill 3 of the 2019 New Hampshire Regular Legislative Session. Accordingly, this agreement
will immediately terminate in the event the Contractor does not maintain the required
accreditation.

10.2 Notwithstanding Section 10.1 above, the State may terminate the Agreement at any time for
any reason, at the sole discretion of the State, 30 days after giving the Contractor written
notice that the State is exercising its option to terminate the Agreement.

10.3 In the event of early termination, the Contractor shall, within 15 days of notice of early
termination, develop and submit to the State a Transition Plan for services under the
Agreement, including but not limited to, identifying the present and future needs of clients
receiving sen/ices under the Agreement and establishes a process to meet those needs.

10.4 The Contractor shall fully cooperate with the State and shall promptly provide detailed
information to support the Transition Plan including, but not limited to, any information or data
requested by the State related to the termination of the Agreement and Transition Plan and
shall provide ongoing communication and revisions of the Transition Plan to the State as
requested.

2. Renewal

2.1. The parties may extend the Agreement for up to two (2) additional years from the Completion
Date, contingent upon satisfactory delivery of services, available funding, agreement of the
parties and approval of the Governor and Executive Council.

Exhibit C-1 - Revisions/Exceptions to Standard Contract language Contractor Initials
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CERTIFICATION REGARDING DRUG-FREE WORKPLACE REQUIREMENTS

The Vendor identified in Section 1.3 of the General Provisions agrees to comply with the provisions of
Sections 5151-5160 of the Drug-Free Workplace Act of 1988 (Pub. L. 100-690, Title V, Subtitle D; 41
U.S.C. 701 et seq.), and further agrees to have the Contractor's representative, as Identified in Sections
1.11 and 1.12 of the General Provisions execute the following Certification:

ALTERNATIVE I - FOR GRANTEES OTHER THAN INDIVIDUALS

US DEPARTMENT OF HEALTH AND HUMAN SERVICES - CONTRACTORS
US DEPARTMENT OF EDUCATION - CONTRACTORS
US DEPARTMENT OF AGRICULTURE - CONTRACTORS

This certification is required by the regulations implementing Sections 5151-5160 of the Drug-Free
Workplace Act of 1988 (Pub. L. 100-690, Title V, Subtitle D; 41 U.S.C. 701 et seq.). The January 31,
1989 regulations were amended and published as Part II of the May 25, 1990 Federal Register (pages
21681-21691), and require certification by grantees (and by Inference, sub-grantees and sub
contractors), prior to award, that they will maintain a drug-free workplace. Section 3017.630(c) of the
regulation provides that a grantee (and by Inference, sub-grantees and sub-contractors) that Is a State
may elect to make one certification to the Department in each federal fiscal year in lieu of certificates for
each grant during the federal fiscal year covered by the certification. The certificate set out below is a
material representation of fact upon which reliance is placed when the agency awards the grant. False
certification or violation of the certification shall be grounds for suspension of payments, suspension or
termination of grants, or government wide suspension or debarment. Contractors using this form should
send it to:

Commissioner

NH Department of Health and Human Services
129 Pleasant Street,
Concord, NH 03301-6505

1. The grantee certifies that it will or will continue to provide a drug-free workplace by:
1.1. Publishing a statement notifying employees that the unlawful manufacture, distribution,

dispensing, possession or use of a controlled substance Is prohibited in the grantee's
workplace and specifying the actions that will be taken against employees for violation of such
prohibition;

1.2. Establishing an ongoing drug-free awareness program to inform employees about
1.2.1. The dangers of drug abuse in the workplace;
1.2.2. The grantee's policy of maintaining a drug-free workplace;
1.2.3. Any available drug counseling, rehabilitation, and employee assistance programs; and
1.2.4. The penalties that may be imposed upon employees for drug abuse violations

occurring in the workplace;
1.3. Making It a requirement that each employee to be engaged In the performance of the grant be

given a copy of the statement required by paragraph (a);
1.4. Notifying the employee in the statement required by paragraph (a) that, as a condition of

employment under the grant, the employee will
1.4.1. Abide by the terms of the statement; and
1.4.2. Notify the employer in writing of his or her conviction for a violation of a criminal drug

statute occurring in the workplace no later than five calendar days after such
conviction;

1.5. Notifying the agency in writing, within ten calendar days after receiving notice under
subparagraph 1.4.2 from an employee or othenvlse receiving actual notice of such conviction.
Employers of convicted employees must provide notice. Including position title, to every grant
officer on whose grant activity the convicted employee was working, unless the Federal agency

Exhibit D - Certification regarding Drug Free Vendor Initials (T 1
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has designated a central point for the receipt of such notices. Notice shall include the
identification number(s) of each affected grant;

1.6. Taking one of the following actions, within 30 calendar days of receiving notice under
subparagraph 1.4.2, with respect to any employee who is so convicted
1.6.1. Taking appropriate personnel action against such an employee, up to and including

termination, consistent with the requirements of the Rehabilitation Act of 1973, as
amended; or

1.6.2. Requiring such employee to participate satisfactorily in a drug abuse assistance or
rehabilitation program approved for such purposes by a Federal, State, or local health,
law enforcement, or other appropriate agency;

1.7. Making a good faith effort to continue to maintain a drug-free workplace through
implementation of paragraphs 1.1,1.2, 1.3,1.4, 1.5, and 1.6.

2. The grantee may insert in the space provided below the site(s) for the performance of work done in
connection with the specific grant.

Place of Performance (street address, city, county, state, zip code) (list each location)

/y js-t: /t/y

Check □ if there are workplaces on file that are not identified here.

Vendor Name:

//s/3(X)0
Date Name:

Exhibit D - Certification regarding Drug Free Vendor initiais
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Exhibit E

CERTIFICATION REGARDING LOBBYING

The Vendor identified in Section 1.3 of the General Provisions agrees to compiy with the provisions of
Section 319 of Public Law 101-121, Government wide Guidance for New Restrictions on Lobbying, and
31 U.S.C. 1352, and further agrees to have the Contractor's representative, as identified in Sections 1.11
and 1.12 of the General Provisions execute the following Certification:

US DEPARTMENT OF HEALTH AND HUMAN SERVICES - CONTRACTORS
US DEPARTMENT OF EDUCATION - CONTRACTORS

US DEPARTMENT OF AGRICULTURE - CONTRACTORS

Programs (indicate applicable program covered):
•Temporary Assistance to Needy Families under Title iV-A
•Child Support Enforcement Program under Title iV-D
•Social Services Block Grant Program under Title XX
•Medicaid Program under Title XIX
•Community Services Block Grant under Title Vi
•Child Care Development Block Grant under Title IV

The undersigned certifies, to the best of his or her knowledge and belief, that:

1. No Federal appropriated funds have been paid or will be paid by or on behalf of the undersigned, to
any person for influencing or attempting to influence an officer or employee of any agency, a Member
of Congress, an officer or employee of Congress, or an employee of a Member of Congress in
connection with the awarding of any Federal contract, continuation, renewal, amendment, or
modification of any Federal contract, grant, loan, or cooperative agreement (and by specific mention
sub-grantee or sub-contractor).

2. If any funds other than Federal appropriated funds have been paid or will be paid to any person for
influencing or attempting to influence an officer or employee of any agency, a Member of Congress,
an officer or employee of Congress, or an employee of a Member of Congress in connection with this
Federal contract, grant, loan, or cooperative agreement (and by specific mention sub-grantee or sub
contractor), the undersigned shall complete and submit Standard Form LLL, (Disclosure Form to
Report Lobbying, in accordance with its instructions, attached and identified as Standard Exhibit E-l.)

3. The undersigned shall require that the language of this certification be included in the award
document for sub-awards at ail tiers (including subcontracts, sub-grants, and contracts under grants,
loans, and cooperative agreements) and that all sub-recipients shall certify and disclose accordingly.

This certification is a material representation of fact upon which reliance was placed when this transaction
was made or entered into. Submission of this certification is a prerequisite for making or entering into this
transaction imposed by Section 1352, Title 31, U.S. Code. Any person who fails to file the required
certification shall be subject to a civil penalty of not less than $10,000 and not more than $100,000 for
each such failure.

Vendor Name: //JC,

//j/joOO
Date Name: tT.

Exhibil E - Certification Regarding Lobbying Vendor Initials I
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Exhibit F

CERTIFICATION REGARDING DEBARMENT. SUSPENSION

AND OTHER RESPONSIBILITY MATTERS

The Vendor identified in Section 1.3 of the General Provisions agrees to compiy with the provisions of
Executive Office of the President, Executive Order 12549 and 45 CFR Part 76 regarding Debarment.
Suspension, and Other Responsibility Matters, and further agrees to have the Contractor's
representative, as identified in Sections 1.11 and 1.12 of the Generai Provisions execute the foiiowing
Certification:

INSTRUCTIONS FOR CERTIFICATION

1. By signing and submitting this proposal (contract), the prospective primary participant is providing the
certification set out below.

2. The inability of a person to provide the certification required below will not necessarily result in denial
of participation in this covered transaction, if necessary, the prospective participant shall submit an
explanation of why it cannot provide the certification. The certification or explanation will be
considered in connection with the NH Department of Health and Human Services' (DHHS)
determination whether to enter into this transaction. However, failure of the prospective primary
participant to fumish a certification or an explanation shall disqualify such person from participation in
this transaction.

3. The certification in this clause is a material representation of fact upon which reliance was placed
when DHHS determined to enter into this transaction. If it is later determined that the prospective
primary participant knowingly rendered an erroneous certification, in addition to other remedies
available to the Federal Govemment, DHHS may terminate this transaction for cause or default.

4. The prospective primary participant shall provide immediate written notice to the DHHS agency to
whom this proposal (contract) is submitted if at any time the prospective primary participant ieams
that its certification was erroneous when submitted or has become erroneous by reason of changed
circumstances.

5. The terms "covered transaction," "debarred," "suspended," "ineligible," "lower tier covered
transaction," "participant," "person," "primary covered transaction," "principal," "proposal," and
"voluntarily excluded," as used in this clause, have the meanings set out in the Definitions and
Coverage sections of the rules implementing Executive Order 12549: 45 CFR Part 76. See the
attached definitions.

6. The prospective primary participant agrees by submitting this proposal (contract) that, should the
proposed covered transaction be entered into, it shall not knowingly enter into any lower tier covered
transaction with a person who is debarred, suspended, declared ineligible, or voluntarily excluded
from participation in this covered transaction, unless authorized by DHHS.

7. The prospective primary participant further agrees by submitting this proposal that it will include the
clause titled "Certification Regarding Debarment, Suspension, ineiigibility and Voluntary Exclusion -
Lower Tier Covered Transactions," provided by DHHS, without modification, in ail lower tier covered
transactions and in all solicitations for lower tier covered transactions.

8. A participant in a covered transaction may rely upon a certification of a prospective participant in a
lower tier covered transaction that it is not det^arred, suspended, ineligible, or involuntarily excluded
from the covered transaction, unless It knows that the certification is erroneous. A participant may
decide the method and frequency by which it determines the eligibility of its principals. Each
participant may, but is not required to, check the Nonprocurement List (of excluded parties).

9. Nothing contained in the foregoing shall be construed to require establishment of a system of records
in order to render in good faith the certification required by this clause. The knowledge and

Exhibit F - Certification Regarding Debarment, Suspension Vendor Initials
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Information of a participant is not required to exceed that which is normally possessed by a prudent
person in the ordinary course of business dealings.

10. Except for transactions authorized under paragraph 6 of these instructions, if a participant in a
covered transaction knowingly enters into a lower tier covered transaction with a person who is
suspended, debarred, ineligible, or voluntarily excluded from participation in this transaction, in
addition to other remedies available to the Federal government, DHHS may terminate this transaction
for cause or default.

PRIMARY COVERED TRANSACTIONS

11. The prospective primary participant certifies to the best of its knowledge and belief, that it and its
principals;
11.1. are not presently debarred, suspended, proposed for debarment, declared ineligible, or

voluntarily excluded from covered transactions by any Federal department or agency;
11.2. have not within a three-year period preceding this proposal (contract) been convicted of or had

a civil judgment rendered against them for commission of fraud or a criminal offense in
connection with obtaining, attempting to obtain, or performing a public (Federal, State or local)
transaction or a contract under a public transaction; violation of Federal or State antitrust
statutes or commission of embezdement, theft, forgery, bribery, falsification or destruction of
records, making false statements, or receiving stolen property;

11.3. are not presently indicted for otherwise criminally or civilly charged by a govemmental entity
(Federal, State or local) with commission of any of the offenses enumerated in paragraph (l)(b)
of this certification; and

11.4. have not within a three-year period preceding this application/proposal had one or more public
transactions (Federal, State or local) terminated for cause or default.

12. Where the prospective primary participant is unable to certify to any of the statements in this
certification, such prospective participant shall attach an explanation to this proposal (contract).

LOWER TIER COVERED TRANSACTIONS

13. By signing and submitting this lower tier proposal (contract), the prospective lower tier participant, as
defined in 45 CFR Part 76, certifies to the best of its knowledge and belief that it and its principals:
13.1. are not presently debarred, suspended, proposed for debarment, declared ineligible, or

voluntarily excluded from participation in this transaction by any federal department or agency.
13.2. where the prospective lower tier participant is unable to certify to any of the above, such

prospective participant shall attach an explanation to this proposal (contract).

14. The prospective lower tier participant further agrees by submitting this proposal (contract) that it will
include this clause entitled "Certification Regarding Debarment, Suspension, Ineligibility, and
Voluntary Exclusion - Lower Tier Covered Transactions," without modification in all lower tier covered
transactions and in all solicitations for lower tier covered transactions.

Vendor Name: ^ /).^J ( A)6

//3A-Oo)0
Date^ Name:

Title:
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CERTIFICATION OF COMPLIANCE WITH REQUIREMENTS PERTAINING TO

FEDERAL NONDISCRIMINATION. EQUAL TREATMENT OF FAITH-BASED ORGANIZATIONS AND

WHISTLEBLOWER PROTECTIONS

The Vendor identified in Section 1.3 of the General Provisions agrees by signature of the Contractor's
representative as identified in Sections 1.11 and 1.12 of the General Provisions, to execute the following
certification;

Vendor will comply, and will require any subgrantees or subcontractors to comply, with any applicable
federal nondiscrimination requirements, which may include:

- the Omnibus Crime Control and Safe Streets Act of 1968 (42 U.S.C. Section 3789d) which prohibits
recipients of federal funding under this statute from discriminating, either in employment practices or in
the delivery of services or benefits, on the basis of race, color, religion, national origin, and sex. The Act

requires certain recipients to produce an Equal Employment Opportunity Plan;

• the Juvenile Justice Delinquency Prevention Act of 2002 (42 U.S.C. Section 5672(b)) which adopts by
reference, the civil rights obligations of the Safe Streets Act. Recipients of federal funding under this
statute are prohibited from discriminating, either in employment practices or in the delivery of services or
benefits, on the basis of race, color, religion, national origin, and sex. The Act includes Equal
Employment Opportunity Plan requirements;

- the Civil Rights Act of 1964 (42 U.S.C. Section 2000d, which prohibits recipients of federal financial
assistance from discriminating on the basis of race, color, or national origin In any program or activity);

- the Rehabilitation Act of 1973 (29 U.S.C. Section 794), which prohibits recipients of Federal financial
assistance from discriminating on the basis of disability, in regard to employment and the delivery of
services or benefits, in any program or activity;

- the Americans with Disabilities Act of 1990 (42 U.S.C. Sections 12131-34), which prohibits
discrimination and ensures equal opportunity for persons with disabilities in employment. State and local
government services, public accommodations, commercial facilities, and transportation;

- the Education Amendments of 1972 (20 U.S.C. Sections 1681, 1683,1685-86), which prohibits
discrimination on the basis of sex in federally assisted education programs;

- the Age Discrimination Act of 1975 (42 U.S.C. Sections 6106-07), which prohibits discrimination on the
basis of age in programs or activities receiving Federal financial assistance. It does not include
employment discrimination;

- 28 C.F.R. pt. 31 (U.S. Department of Justice Regulations - OJJDP Grant Programs); 28 C.F.R. pt. 42
(U.S. Department of Justice Regulations - Nondiscrimination; Equal Employment Opportunity; Policies
and Procedures); Executive Order No. 13279 (equal protection of the laws for faith-based and community
organizations); Executive Order No. 13559. which provide fundamental principles and policy-making
criteria for partnerships with faith-based and neighborhood organizations;

- 28 C.F.R. pt. 38 (U.S. Department of Justice Regulations - Equal Treatment for Faith-Based
Organizations); and Whistleblower protections 41 U.S.C. §4712 and The National Defense Authorization
Act (NDAA) for Fiscal Year 2013 (Pub. L. 112-239, enacted January 2. 2013) the Pilot Program for
Enhancement of Contract Employee Whistleblower Protections, which protects employees against
reprisal for certain whistle blowing activities in connection with federal grants and contracts.

The certificate set out below Is a material representation of fact upon which reliance is placed when the
agency awards the grant. False certification or violation of the certification shall be grounds for
suspension of payments, suspension or termination of grants, or government wide suspension or
debarment.
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In the event a Federal or State court or Federal or State administrative agency makes a finding of
discrimination after a due process hearing on the grounds of race, color, religion, national origin, or sex
against a recipient of funds, the recipient will forward a copy of the finding to the Office for Civil Rights, to
the applicable contracting agency or division within the Department of Health and Human Services, and
to the Department of Health and Human Services Office of the Ombudsman.

The Vendor identified In Section 1.3 of the General Provisions agrees by signature of the Contractor's
representative as Identified In Sections 1.11 and 1.12 of the General Provisions, to execute the following
certification:

I. By signing and submitting this proposal (contract) the Vendor agrees to comply with the provisions
indicated above.

Vendor Name:

//j/<^ODd
Date Name:

Title.
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CERTIFICATION REGARDING ENVIRONMENTAL TOBACCO SMOKE

Public Law 103-227, Part 0 - Environmental Tobacco Smoke, also known as the Pro-Children Act of 1994
(Act), requires that smoking not be permitted In any portion of any indoor facility owned or leased or
contracted for by an entity and used routinely or regularly for the provision of health, day care, education,
or library services to children under the age of 18, if the services are funded by Federal programs either
directly or through State or local governments, by Federal grant, contract, loan, or loan guarantee. The
law does not apply to children's services provided in private residences, facilities funded solely by
Medicare or Medicaid funds, and portions of facilities used for inpatient drug or alcohol treatment. Failure
to comply with the provisions of the law may result in the imposition of a civil monetary penalty of up to
$1000 per day and/or the imposition of an administrative compliance order on the responsible entity.

The Vendor identified in Section 1.3 of the General Provisions agrees, by signature of the Contractor's
representative as identified in Section 1.11 and 1.12 of the General Provisions, to execute the following
certification:

1. By signing and submitting this contract, the Vendor agrees to make reasonable efforts to comply with
all applicable provisions of Public Law 103-227, Part C, known as the Pro-Children Act of 1994.

Vendor Name:

S/Oo<dO
Date Name:

Exhibit H - Certification Regarding Vendor Initiais,
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HEALTH INSURANCE PORTABILITY AND ACCOUNTABILITY ACT

BUSINESS ASSOCIATE AGREEMENT

The Contractor identified in Section 1.3 of the General Provisions of the Agreement agrees to
comply with the Health Insurance Portability and Accountability Act, Public Law 104-191 and
with the Standards for Privacy and Security of Individually Identifiable Health Information. 45
CFR Parts 160 and 164 applicable to business associates. As defined herein, "Business
Associate" shall mean the Contractor and subcontractors and agents of the Contractor that
receive, use or have access to protected health information under this Agreement and "Covered
Entity" shall mean the State of New Hampshire, Department of Health and Human Services.

(1) Definitions.

a. "Breach" shall have the same meaning as the term "Breach" in section 164.402 of Title 45,
Code of Federal Regulations.

b. "Business Associate" has the meaning given such term in section 160.103 of Title 45, Code
of Federal Regulations.

c. "Covered Entitv" has the meaning given such term in section 160.103 of Title 45,
Code of Federal Regulations.

d. "Designated Record Set" shall have the same meaning as the term "designated record set"
in 45 CFR Section 164.501.

e. "Data Acareaation" shall have the same meaning as the term "data aggregation" in 45 CFR
Section 164.501.

f. "Health Care Operations" shall have the same meaning as the term "health care operations"
in 45 CFR Section 164.501.

g. "HITECH Act" means the Health Information Technology for Economic and Clinical Health
Act, TitleXIII, Subtitle D, Part 1 & 2 of the American Recovery and Reinvestment Act of
2009.

h. "HIPAA" means the Health Insurance Portability and Accountability Act of 1996, Public Law
104-191 and the^^^ndards for Privacy and Security of Individually Identifiable Health
Information, 45 CFR Parts 160, 162 and 164 and amendments thereto.

i. "Individual" shall have the same meaning as the term "individual" In 45 CFR Section 160.103
and shall include a person who qualifies as a personal representative in accordance with 45
CFR Section 164.501(g).

j. "Privacv Rule" shall mean the Standards for Privacy of Individually Identifiable Health
Information at 45 CFR Parts 160 and 164, promulgated under HIPAA by the United States
Department of Health and Human Services.

k. "Protected Health Information" shall have the same meaning as the term "protected health
information" in 45 CFR Section 160.103, limited to the information created or received by
Business Associate from or on behalf of Covered Entity.

3/2014 Exhibit I Contractor Initials /
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I. "Required bv Law" shall have the same meaning as the term "required by law" in 45 CFR
Section 164.103.

m. "Secretary" shall mean the Secretary of the Department of Health and Human Services or
his/her designee.

n. "Security Rule" shall mean the Security Standards for the Protection of Electronic Protected
Health Information at 45 CFR Part 164, Subpart C, and amendments thereto.

o. "Unsecured Protected Health Information" means protected health Information that is not
secured by a technology standard that renders protected health information unusable,
unreadable, or indecipherable to unauthorized individuals and Is developed or endorsed by
a standards developing organization that is accredited by the American National Standards
Institute.

p. Other Definitions - All terms not otherwise defined herein shall have the meaning
established under 45 C.F.R. Parts 160, 162 and 164, as amended from time to time, and the
HITECH

Act.

(2) Business Associate Use and Disclosure of Protected Health Information.

a. Business Associate shall not use, disclose, maintain or transmit Protected Health
Information (PHI) except as reasonably necessary to provide the services outlined under
Exhibit A of the Agreement. Further, Business Associate, including but not limited to all
its directors, officers, employees and agents, shall not use, disclose, maintain or transmit
PHI in any manner that would constitute a violation of the Privacy and Security Rule.

b. Business Associate may use or disclose PHI:
I. For the proper management and administration of the Business Associate;
II. As required by law, pursuant to the terms set forth In paragraph d. below; or
III. For data aggregation purposes for the health care operations of Covered

Entity.

c. To the extent Business Associate is permitted under the Agreement to disclose PHI to a
third party. Business Associate must obtain, prior to making any such disclosure. (I)
reasonable assurances from the third party that such PHI will be held confidentially and
used or further disclosed only as required by law or for the purpose for which It was
disclosed to the third party; and (ii) an agreement from such third party to notify Business
Associate, in accordance with the HIPAA Privacy, Security, and Breach Notification
Rules of any breaches of the confidentiality of the PHI, to the extent it has obtained
knowledge of such breach.

d. The Business Associate shall not, unless such disclosure is reasonably necessary to
provide services under Exhibit A of the Agreement, disclose any PHI in response to a
request for disclosure on the basis that it is required by law, without first notifying
Covered Entity so that Covered Entity has an opportunity to object to the disclosure and
to seek appropriate relief. If Covered Entity objects to such disclosure, the Business

3/2014 Exhibit I Contractor Initials,
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Associate shall refrain from disclosing the PHI until Covered Entity has exhausted all
remedies.

e. If the Covered Entity notifies the Business Associate that Covered Entity has agreed to
be bound by additional restrictions over and above those uses or disclosures or security
safeguards of PHI pursuant to the Privacy and Security Rule, the Business Associate
shall be bound by such additional restrictions and shall not disclose PHI in violation of
such additional restrictions and shall abide by any additional security safeguards.

(3) Obligations and Activities of Business Associate.

a. The Business Associate shall notify the Covered Entity's Privacy Officer immediately
after the Business Associate becomes aware of any use or disclosure of protected
health information not provided for by the Agreement including breaches of unsecured
protected health information and/or any security incident that may have an impact on the
protected health information of the Covered Entity.

b. The Business Associate shall immediately perform a risk assessment when it becomes
aware of any of the above situations. The risk assessment shall Include, but not be
limited to:

o The nature and extent of the protected health information involved, including the
types of identifiers and the likelihood of re-identification;

0  The unauthorized person used the protected health information or to whom the
disclosure was made;

0 Whether the protected health information was actually acquired or viewed
0  The extent to which the risk to the protected health information has been

mitigated.

The Business Associate shall complete the risk assessment within 48 hours of the
breach and immediately report the findings of the risk assessment in writing to the
Covered Entity.

c. The Business Associate shall comply with all sections of the Privacy, Security, and
Breach Notification Rule.

d. Business Associate shall make available all of its internal policies and procedures, books
and records relating to the use and disclosure of PHI received from, or created or
received by the Business Associate on behalf of Covered Entity to the Secretary for
purposes of determining Covered Entity's compliance with HIPAA and the Privacy and
Security Rule.

e. Business Associate shall require all of its business associates that receive, use or have
access to PHI under the Agreement, to agree in writing to adhere to the same
restrictions and conditions on the use and disclosure of PHI contained herein, including
the duty to return or destroy the PHI as provided under Section 3 (I). The Covered Entity
shall be considered a direct third party beneficiary of the Contractor's business associate
agreements with Contractor's Intended business associates, who will be receiving PHI
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pursuant to this Agreement, with rights of enforcement and indemnification from such
business associates who shall be governed by standard Paragraph #13 of the standard
contract provisions (P-37) of this Agreement for the purpose of use and disclosure of
protected health information.

f. Within five (5) business days of receipt of a written request from Covered Entity,
Business Associate shall make available during normal business hours at its offices all
records, books, agreements, policies and procedures relating to the use and disclosure
of PHI to the Covered Entity, for purposes of enabling Covered Entity to determine
Business Associate's compliance with the terms of the Agreement.

g. Within ten (10) business days of receiving a written request from Covered Entity,
Business Associate shall provide access to PHI in a Designated Record Set to the
Covered Entity, or as directed by Covered Entity, to an individual in order to meet the
requirements under 45 CFR Section 164.524.

h. Within ten (10) business days of receiving a written request from Covered Entity for an
amendment of PHI or a record about an individual contained in a Designated Record
Set, the Business Associate shall make such PHI available to Covered Entity for
amendment and incorporate any such amendment to enable Covered Entity to fulfill its
obligations under 45 CFR Section 164.526.

i. Business Associate shall document such disclosures of PHI and Information related to

such disclosures as would be required for Covered Entity to respond to a request by an
individual for an accounting of disclosures of PHI in accordance with 45 CFR Section
164.528.

j. Within ten (10) business days of receiving a written request from Covered Entity for a
request for an accounting of disclosures of PHI, Business Associate shall make available
to Covered Entity such information as Covered Entity may require to fulfill its obligations
to provide an accounting of disclosures with respect to PHI in accordance with 45 CFR
Section 164.528.

k. In the event any individual requests access to, amendment of, or accounting of PHI
directly from the Business Associate, the Business Associate shall within two (2)
business days forward such request to Covered Entity. Covered Entity shall have the
responsibility of responding to forwarded requests. However, if foPA/arding the
individual's request to Covered Entity would cause Covered Entity or the Business
Associate to violate HIPAA and the Privacy and Security Rule, the Business Associate
shall instead respond to the individual's request as required by such law and notify
Covered Entity of such response as soon as practicable.

I. Within ten (10) business days of termination of the Agreement, for any reason, the
Business Associate shall return or destroy, as specified by Covered Entity, all PHI
received from, or created or received by the Business Associate in connection with the
Agreement, and shall not retain any copies or back-up tapes of such PHI. If return or
destruction is not feasible, or the disposition of the PHI has been otherwise agreed to in
the Agreement, Business Associate shall continue to extend the protections of the
Agreement, to such PHI and limit further uses and disclosures of such PHI to those
purposes that make the return or destruction infeasible, for so long as Business
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Associate maintains such PHI. If Covered Entity, in its sole discretion, requires that the
Business Associate destroy any or all PHI, the Business Associate shall certify to
Covered Entity that the PHI has been destroyed.

(4) ObliQations of Covered Entity

a. Covered Entity shall notify Business Associate of any changes or limitation(s) in its
Notice of Privacy Practices provided to individuals in accordance with 45 CFR Section
164.520, to the extent that such change or limitation may affect Business Associate's
use or disclosure of PHI.

b. Covered Entity shall promptly notify Business Associate of any changes in. or revocation
of permission provided to Covered Entity by individuals whose PHI may be used or
disclosed by Business Associate under this Agreement, pursuant to 45 CFR Section
164.506 or 45 CFR Section 164.508.

c. Covered entity shall promptly notify Business Associate of any restrictions on the use or
disclosure of PHI that Covered Entity has agreed to in accordance with 45 CFR 164.522,
to the extent that such restriction may affect Business Associate's use or disclosure of
PHI.

(5) Termination for Cause

In addition to Paragraph 10 of the standard terms and conditions (P-37) of this
Agreement the Covered Entity may immediately terminate the Agreement upon Covered
Entity's knowledge of a breach by Business Associate of the Business Associate
Agreement set forth herein as Exhibit I. The Covered Entity may either immediately
terminate the Agreement or provide an opportunity for Business Associate to cure the
alleged breach within a timeframe specified by Covered Entity. If Covered Entity
determines that neither termination nor cure is feasible. Covered Entity shall report the
violation to the Secretary.

(6) Miscellaneous

a. Definitions and Reaulatorv References. All terms used, but not otherwise defined herein,
shall have the same meaning as those terms in the Privacy and Security Rule, amended
from time to time. A reference in the Agreement, as amended to include this Exhibit I, to
a Section in the Privacy and Security Rule means the Section as in effect or as
amended.

b. Amendment. Covered Entity and Business Associate agree to take such action as Is
necessary to amend the Agreement, from time to time as is necessary for Covered
Entity to comply with the changes in the requirements of HIPAA, the Privacy and
Security Rule, and applicable federal and state law.

c. Data Ownership. The Business Associate acknowledges that it has no ownership rights
with respect to the PHI provided by or created on behalf of Covered Entity.

d. Interpretation. The parties agree that any ambiguity in the Agreement shall be resolved
to permit Covered Entity to comply with HIPAA, the Privacy and Security Rule.

Exhibit! ContractorInitiats CTT^
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Seareaatlon. If any term or condition of this Exhibit I or the application thereof to any
person(s) or circumstance is held invalid, such invalidity shall not affect other terms or
conditions which can be given effect without the invalid term or condition; to this end the
terms and conditions of this Exhibit I are declared severable.

Survival. Provisions in this Exhibit I regarding the use and disclosure of PHI, retum or
destmction of PHI, extensions of the protections of the Agreement in section (3) I, the
defense and indemnification provisions of section (3) e and Paragraph 13 of the
standard terms and conditions (P-37), shall survive the termination of the Agreement.

IN WITNESS WHEREOF, the parties hereto have duly executed this Exhibit I.

Department of Health and Human Services

The State. ^ Name of the Contractor

Sf^apure of Authorized Representative

f/rih am
Narrle of Authorized Representative

Title of Authonzed Representative

0

Signature of'Aufhgdzed Representative

zT
frome of Authorized Representative

Title of Authorized Representative

Date Date
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CERTIFICATION REGARDING THE FEDERAL FUNDING ACCOUNTABILITY AND TRANSPARENCY
ACT (FFATA) COMPLIANCE

The Federal Funding Accountabiiity and Transparency Act (FFATA) requires prime awardees of individual
Federal grants equal to or greater than $25,000 and awarded on or after October 1, 2010, to report on
data related to executive compensation and associated first-tier sub-grants of $25,000 or more. If the
initial award is below $25,000 but subsequent grant modifications result in a total award equal to or over
$25,000, the award is subject to the FFATA reporting requirements, as of the date of the award,
in accordance with 2 CFR Part 170 (Reporting Subaward and Executive Compensation Information), the
Department of Health and Human Services (DHHS) must report the following information for any
subaward or contract award subject to the FFATA reporting requirements:
1. Name of entity
2. Amount of award

3. Funding agency
4. NAICS code for contracts / CFDA program number for grants
5. Program source
6. Award title descriptive of the purpose of the funding action
7. Location of the entity
8. Principle place of performance
9. Unique identifier of the entity (DUNS #)
10. Total compensation and names of the top five executives if:

10.1. More than 80% of annual gross revenues are from the Federal government, and those
revenues are greater than $25M annually and

10.2. Compensation information is not already available through reporting to the SEC.

Prime grant recipients must submit FFATA required data by the end of the month, plus 30 days, in which
the award or award amendment is made.

The Contractor identified in Section 1.3 of the General Provisions agrees to comply with the provisions of
The Federal Funding Accountability and Transparency Act, Public Law 109-282 and Public Law 110-252,
and 2 CFR Part 170 (Reporting Subaward and Executive Compensation Information), and further agrees
to have the Contractor's representative, as identified in Sections 1.11 and 1.12 of the General Provisions
execute the following Certification:
The below named Contractor agrees to provide needed information as outlined above to the NH
Department of Health and Human Services and to comply with all applicable provisions of the Federal
Financial Accountabiiity and Transparency Act.

Contractor Name:

/A/Jo6>0 ^ _
Date Name:

Title:

Exhibit J - Certification Regarding the Federal Funding Contractor Initials,
Accountability And Transparency Act (FFATA) Compliance
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FORMA

As the Contractor identified in Section 1.3 of the General Provisions, i certify that the responses to the
below listed questions are true and accurate.

1. The DUNS number for vour entity is: ̂  ̂ %0^(^5'3
2. In your business or organization's preceding completed fiscal year, did your business or organization

receive (1) 80 percent or more of your annual gross revenue in U.S. federal contracts, subcontracts,
loans, grants, sut>grants, and/or cooperative agreements; and (2) $25,000,000 or more in annual
gross revenues from U.S. federal contracts, subcontracts, loans, grants, subgrants, and/or
cooperative agreements?

NO YES

If the answer to #2 above is NO, stop here

If the answer to #2 above is YES, please answer the following;

3. Does the public have access to information about the compensation of the executives in your
business or organization through periodic reports filed under section 13(a) or 15(d) of the Securities
Exchange Act of 1934 (15 U.S.C.78m(a), 780(d)) or section 6104 of the Internal Revenue Code of
1986?

NO YES

If the answer to #3 above is YES, stop here

If the answer to #3 above is NO, please answer the following:

4. The names and compensation of the five most highly compensated officers in your business or
organization are as follosvs:

Name:

Name:

Name:

Name:

Name:

Amount:

Amount:

Amount:

Amount:

Amount:

CU/OHHS/110713
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DHHS Information Security Requirements

A. Definitions

The following terms may be reflected and have the described meaning in this document:

1. "Breach" means the loss of control, compromise, unauthorized disclosure,
unauthorized acquisition, unauthorized access, or any similar term referring to
situations where persons other than authorized users and for an other than
authorized purpose have access or potential access to personally identifiable
information, whether physical or electronic. With regard to Protected Health
Information," Breach" shall have the same meaning as the term "Breach" In section
164.402 of Title 45, Code of Federal Regulations.

2. "Computer Security Incident" shall have the same meaning "Computer Security
Incident" in section two (2) of NIST Publication 800-61. Computer Security Incident
Handling Guide, National Institute of Standards and Technology, U.S. Department
of Commerce.

3. "Confidential Information" or "Confidential Data" means all confidential information
disclosed by one party to the other such as all medical, health, financial, public
assistance benefits and personal information including without limitation, Substance
Abuse Treatment Records, Case Records, Protected Health Information and
Personally Identifiable Information.

Confidential Information also includes any and all information owned or managed by
the State of NH - created, received from or on behalf of the Department of Health and
Human Services (DHHS) or accessed in the course of performing contracted
services - of which collection, disclosure, protection, and disposition is governed by
state or federal law or regulation. This information includes, but is not limited to
Protected Health Information (PHI). Personal Information (PI). Personal Financial
Information (PFI), Federal Tax Information (FTI). Social Security Numbers (SSN),
Payment Card Industry (PCI), and or other sensitive and confidential information.

4. "End User" means any person or entity (e.g., contractor, contractor's employee,
business associate, subcontractor, other downstream user, etc.) that receives
DHHS data or derivative data in accordance with the terms of this Contract.

5. "HIPAA" means the Health Insurance Portability and Accountability Act of 1996 and the
regulations promulgated thereunder.

6. "Incident" means an act that potentially violates an explicit or implied security policy,
which includes attempts (either failed or successful) to gain unauthorized access to a
system or its data, unwanted disruption or denial of service, the unauthorized use of
a system for the processing or storage of data; and changes to system hardware,
firmware, or software characteristics without the owner's knowledge, instruction, or
consent. Incidents include the loss of data through theft or device misplacement, loss
or misplacement of hardcopy documents, and misrouting of physical or electronic
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DHHS Information Security Requirements

mail, all of which may have the potential to put the data at risk of unauthorized
access, use, disclosure, modification or destruction.

7. "Open Wireless Network" means any network or segment of a network that Is
not designated by the State of New Hampshire's Department of Information
Technology or delegate as a protected network (designed, tested, and
approved, by means of the State, to transmit) will be considered an open
network and not adequately secure for the transmission of unencrypted PI, PFI,
PHI or confidential DHHS data.

8. "Personal Information" (or "PI") means information which can be used to distinguish
or trace an individual's identity, such as their name, social security number, personal
information as defined in New Hampshire RSA 359-C:19, biometric records, etc.,
alone, or when combined with other personal or identifying information which is linked
or linkable to a specific individual, such as date and place of birth, mother's maiden
name, etc.

9. "Privacy Rule" shall mean the Standards for Privacy of Individually Identifiable Health
Information at 45 C.F.R. Parts 160 and 164, promulgated under HIPAA by the United
States Department of Health and Human Services.

10. "Protected Health Information" (or "PHI") has the same meaning as provided in the
definition of "Protected Health Information" in the HIPAA Privacy Rule at 45 C.F.R. §
160.103.

11. "Security Rule" shall mean the Security Standards for the Protection of Electronic
Protected Health Information at 45 C.F.R. Part 164, Subpart C, and amendments
thereto.

12. "Unsecured Protected Health Information" means Protected Health Information that is

not secured by a technology standard that renders Protected Health Information
unusable, unreadable, or indecipherable to unauthorized individuals and is
developed or endorsed by a standards developing organization that is accredited by
the American National Standards Institute.

I. RESPONSIBILITIES OF DHHS AND THE CONTRACTOR

A. Business Use and Disclosure of Confidential Information.

1. The Contractor must not use, disclose, maintain or transmit Confidential Information
except as reasonably necessary as outlined under this Contract. Further, Contractor,
including but not limited to all its directors, officers, employees and agents, must not
use, disclose, maintain or transmit PHI in any manner that would constitute a violation
of the Privacy and Security Rule.

2. The Contractor must not disclose any Confidential Information in response to a

vs. Last update 10/09/18 Exhibit K Contractor Initials
DHHS Information

Security Requirements
Page 2 of 9 Date.



New Hampshire Department of Health and Human Services

Exhibit K
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request for disclosure on the basis that it is required by law, in response to a
subpoena, etc., without first notifying DHHS so that DHHS has an opportunity to
consent or object to the disclosure.

3. If DHHS notifies the Contractor that DHHS has agreed to be bound by additional
restrictions over and above those uses or disclosures or security safeguards of PHI
pursuant to the Privacy and Security Rule, the Contractor must be bound by such
additional restrictions and must not disclose PHI in violation of such additional
restrictions and must abide by any additional security safeguards.

4. The Contractor agrees that DHHS Data or derivative there from disclosed to an End
User must only be used pursuant to the terms of this Contract.

5. The Contractor agrees DHHS Data obtained under this Contract may not be used for
any other purposes that are not indicated in this Contract.

6. The Contractor agrees to grant access to the data to the authorized representatives
of DHHS for the purpose of inspecting to confirm compliance with the terms of this
Contract.

II. METHODS OF SECURE TRANSMISSION OF DATA

1. Application Encryption. If End User is transmitting DHHS data containing
Confidential Data between applications, the Contractor attests the applications have
been evaluated by an expert knowledgeable in cyber security and that said
application's encryption capabilities ensure secure transmission via the internet.

2. Computer Disks and Portable Storage Devices. End User may not use computer disks
or portable storage devices, such as a thumb drive, as a method of transmitting DHHS
data.

3. Encrypted Email. End User may only employ email to transmit Confidential Data if
email is encrvoted and being sent to and being received by email addresses of
persons authorized to receive such information.

4. Encrypted Web Site. If End User is employing the Web to transmit Confidential
Data, the secure socket layers (SSL) must be used and the web site must be
secure. SSL encrypts data transmitted via a Web site.

5. File Hosting Services, also known as File Sharing Sites. End User may not use file
hosting services, such as Dropbox or Google Cloud Storage, to transmit
Confidential Data.

6. Ground Mail Service. End User may only transmit Confidential Data via certified ground
mail within the continental U.S. and when sent to a named individual.

7. Laptops and PDA. If End User is employing portable devices to transmit
Confidential Data said devices must be encrypted and password-protected.

8. Open Wireless Networks. End User may not transmit Confidential Data via an open
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wireless network. End User must employ a virtual private network (VPN) when
remotely transmitting via an open wireless network.

9. Remote User Communication. If End User is employing remote communication to
access or transmit Confidential Data, a virtual private network (VPN) must be
installed on the End User's mobile device(s) or laptop from which information will be
transmitted or accessed.

10. SSH File Transfer Protocol (SFTP), also known as Secure File Transfer Protocol. If
End User is employing an SFTP to transmit Confidential Data, End User will
structure the Folder and access privileges to prevent inappropriate disclosure of
information. SFTP folders and sub-folders used for transmitting Confidential Data will
be coded for 24-hour auto-deletion cycle (i.e. Confidential Data will be deleted every 24
hours).

11. Wireless Devices. If End User is transmitting Confidential Data via wireless devices, all
data must be encrypted to prevent inappropriate disclosure of information.

RETENTION AND DISPOSITION OF IDENTIFIABLE RECORDS

The Contractor will only retain the data and any derivative of the data for the duration of this
Contract. After such time, the Contractor will have 30 days to destroy the data and any
derivative in whatever form it may exist, unless, othenAnse required by law or permitted
under this Contract. To this end, the parties must:

A. Retention

1. The Contractor agrees it will not store, transfer or process data collected in
connection with the services rendered under this Contract outside of the United

States. This physical location requirement shall also apply in the implementation of
cloud computing, cloud service or cloud storage capabilities, and includes backup
data and Disaster Recovery locations.

2. The Contractor agrees to ensure proper security monitoring capabilities are in
place to detect potential security events that can impact State of NH systems
and/or Department confidential information for contractor provided systems.

3. The Contractor agrees to provide security awareness and education for its End
Users in support of protecting Department confidential information.

4. The Contractor agrees to retain all electronic and hard copies of Confidential Data
in a secure location and identified in section IV. A.2

5. The Contractor agrees Confidential Data stored in a Cloud must be in a
FedRAMP/HITECH compliant solution and comply with all applicable statutes and
regulations regarding the privacy and security. All servers and devices must have
currently-supported and hardened operating systems, the latest anti-viral, anti-
hacker, anti-spam, anti-spyware, and anti-malware utilities. The environment, as a
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whole, must have aggressive intrusion-detection and firewall protection.

6. The Contractor agrees to and ensures its complete cooperation with the State's
Chief Information Officer In the detection of any security vulnerability of the hosting
infrastructure.

B. Disposition

1. If the Contractor will maintain any Confidential Information on its systems (or its
sub-contractor systems), the Contractor will maintain a documented process for
securely disposing of such data upon request or contract termination; and will
obtain written certification for any State of New Hampshire data destroyed by the
Contractor or any subcontractors as a part of ongoing, emergency, and or disaster
recovery operations. When no longer in use, electronic media containing State of
New Hampshire data shall be rendered unrecoverable via a secure wipe program
in accordance with industry-accepted standards for secure deletion and media
sanitization, or otherwise physically destroying the media (for example,
degaussing) as described in NISI Special Publication 800-88, Rev 1, Guidelines
for Media Sanitization, National Institute of Standards and Technology, U. S.
Department of Commerce. The Contractor will document and certify in writing at
time of the data destruction, and will provide written certification to the Department
upon request. The written certification will include all details necessary to
demonstrate data has been properly destroyed and validated. Where applicable,
regulatory and professional standards for retention requirements will be jointly
evaluated by the State and Contractor prior to destruction.

2. Unless otherwise specified, within thirty (30) days of the termination of this
Contract, Contractor agrees to destroy all hard copies of Confidential Data using a
secure method such as shredding.

3. Unless othenA/ise specified, within thirty (30) days of the termination of this
Contract, Contractor agrees to completely destroy all electronic Confidential Data
by means of data erasure, also known as secure data wiping.

IV. PROCEDURES FOR SECURITY

A. Contractor agrees to safeguard the DHHS Data received under this Contract, and any
derivative data or files, as follows:

1. The Contractor will maintain proper security controls to protect Department
confidential information collected, processed, managed, and/or stored in the delivery
of contracted services.

2. The Contractor will maintain policies and procedures to protect Department
confidential information throughout the information lifecycle, where applicable, (from
creation, transformation, use, storage and secure destruction) regardless of the
media used to store the data (i.e., tape, disk, paper, etc.).
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3. The Contractor will maintain appropriate authentication and access controls to
contractor systems that collect, transmit, or store Department confidential information
where applicable.

4. The Contractor will ensure proper security monitoring capabilities are in place to
detect potential security events that can impact State of NH systems and/or
Department confidential information for contractor provided systems.

5. The Contractor will provide regular security awareness and education for Its End

Users in support of protecting Department confidential information.

6. If the Contractor will be sub-contracting any core functions of the engagement
supporting the services for State of New Hampshire, the Contractor will maintain a
program of an internal process or processes that defines specific security
expectations, and monitoring compliance to security requirements that at a minimum
match those for the Contractor, including breach notification requirements.

7. The Contractor will work with the Department to sign and comply with all applicable
State of New Hampshire and Department system access and authorization policies
and procedures, systems access forms, and computer use agreements as part of
obtaining and maintaining access to any Department system(s). Agreements will be
completed and signed by the Contractor and any applicable sub-contractors prior to
system access being authorized.

8. If the Department determines the Contractor is a Business Associate pursuant to 45
CFR 160.103, the Contractor will execute a HIPAA Business Associate Agreement
(BAA) with the Department and is responsible for maintaining compliance with the
agreement.

9. The Contractor will work with the Department at its request to complete a System
Management Survey. The purpose of the survey is to enable the Department and
Contractor to monitor for any changes in risks, threats, and vulnerabilities that may
occur over the life of the Contractor engagement. The survey will be completed
annually, or an alternate time frame at the Departments discretion with agreement by
the Contractor, or the Department may request the survey be completed when the
scope of the engagement between the Department and the Contractor changes.

10. The Contractor will not store, knowingly or unknowingly, any State of New Hampshire
or Department data offshore or outside the boundaries of the United States unless
prior express written consent is obtained from the Information Security Office
leadership member within the Department.

11. Data Security Breach Liability. In the event of any security breach Contractor shall
make efforts to investigate the causes of the breach, promptly take measures to
prevent future breach and minimize any damage or loss resulting from the breach.
The State shall recover from the Contractor all costs of response and recovery from
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the breach, including but not limited to: credit monitoring services, mailing costs and
costs associated with website and telephone call center services necessary due to
the breach.

12. Contractor must, comply with all applicable statutes and regulations regarding the
privacy and security of Confidential Information, and must in all other respects
maintain the privacy and security of PI and PHI at a level and scope that is not less
than the level and scope of requirements applicable to federal agencies, including,
but not limited to, provisions of the Privacy Act of 1974 (5 U.S.C. § 552a). DHHS
Privacy Act Regulations (45 C.F.R. §5b). HIPAA Privacy and Security Rules (45
C.F.R. Parts 160 and 164) that govern protections for individually identifiable health
information and as applicable under State law.

13. Contractor agrees to establish and maintain appropriate administrative, technical, and
physical safeguards to protect the confidentiality of the Confidential Data and to
prevent unauthorized use or access to it. The safeguards must provide a level and
scope of security that is not less than the level and scope of security requirements
established by the State of New Hampshire, Department of Information Technology.
Refer to Vendor Resources/Procurement at https://www.nh.gov/doit/vendor/index.htm
for the Department of Information Technology policies, guidelines, standards, and
procurement information relating to vendors.

14. Contractor agrees to maintain a documented breach notification and incident
response process. The Contractor will notify the State's Privacy Officer and the
State's Security Officer of any security breach immediately, at the email addresses
provided in Section VI. This includes a confidential information breach, computer
security incident, or suspected breach which affects or includes any State of New
Hampshire systems that connect to the State of New Hampshire network.

15. Contractor must restrict access to the Confidential Data obtained under this
Contract to only those authorized End Users who need such DHHS Data to
perform their official duties in connection with purposes identified in this Contract.

16. The Contractor must ensure that all End Users:

a. comply with such safeguards as referenced in Section IV A. above,
implemented to protect Confidential Information that is furnished by DHHS
under this Contract from loss, theft or inadvertent disclosure.

b. safeguard this information at all times.

c. ensure that laptops and other electronic devices/media containing PHI, PI, or
PFI are encrypted and password-protected.

d. send emails containing Confidential Information only if encrvoted and being
sent to and being received by email addresses of persons authorized to
receive such information.
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e. limit disclosure of the Confidential Information to the extent permitted by law.

f. Confidential Information received under this Contract and individually
identifiable data derived from DHHS Data, must be stored in an area that is
physically and technologically secure from access by unauthorized persons
during duty hours as well as non-duty hours (e.g., door locks, card keys,
biometric identifiers, etc.).

g. only authorized End Users may transmit the Confidential Data, including any
derivative files containing personally identifiable Information, and in all cases,
such data must be encrypted at all times when in transit, at rest, or when
stored on portable media as required in section IV above.

h. in all other instances Confidential Data must be maintained, used and

disclosed using appropriate safeguards, as determined by a risk-based
assessment of the circumstances involved.

i. understand that their user credentials (user name and password) must not be

shared with anyone. End Users will keep their credential information secure.
This applies to credentials used to access the site directly or indirectly through
a third party application.

Contractor is responsible for oversight and compliance of their End Users. DHHS
reserves the right to conduct onsite inspections to monitor compliance with this
Contract, including the privacy and security requirements provided in herein, HIPAA,
and other applicable laws and Federal regulations until such time the Confidential Data
is disposed of in accordance with this Contract.

V. LOSS REPORTING

The Contractor must notify the State's Privacy Officer and Security Officer of any
Security Incidents and Breaches immediately, at the email addresses provided in
Section VI.

The Contractor must further handle and report Incidents and Breaches involving PHI in
accordance with the agency's documented Incident Handling and Breach Notification
procedures and in accordance with 42 C.F.R. §§ 431.300 - 306. In addition to, and
notwithstanding. Contractor's compliance with all applicable obligations and procedures,
Contractor's procedures must also address how the Contractor will:

1. Identify Incidents:

2. Determine if personally identifiable information is involved in Incidents;

3. Report suspected or confirmed Incidents as required in this Exhibit or P-37;

4. Identify and convene a core response group to determine the risk level of Incidents
and determine risk-based responses to Incidents; and

vs. Last update 10/09/18 ExhIbitK Contractor Initials,
DHHS Information

Security Requirements
Page 8 of 9 Date /,



New Hampshire Department of Health and Human Services

Exhibit K

DHHS information Security Requirements

5. Determine whether Breach notification is required, and, if so, identify appropriate
Breach notification methods, timing, source, and contents from among different
options, and bear costs associated with the Breach notice as well as any mitigation
measures.

Incidents and/or Breaches that Implicate PI must be addressed and reported, as
applicable, in accordance with NH RSA 359-C:20.

VI. PERSONS TO CONTACT

A. DHHS Privacy Offrcer:

DHHSPrivacyOfficer@dhhs.nh.gov

B. DHHS Security Officer:

DHHSInformationSecurityOffice@dhhs.nh.gov

V5. Last update 10/09/18 Exhibit K Contractor Initials I
DHHS information

Security Requirements
Page 9 of 9 Date.



State of New Hampshire

Department of State

CERTmCATE

I. wiiinnt M. Qa/tlner, of Sute of ihc State of New Hiffljnhife. do hereby oertify'ihat HEADR£ST b e New

Htjnpshirc Nonprofit Corportaon re$biend to'transtet busiites in New Hampshin on April 27, 1972.1 tWxher ccnify that all fo

and docursenu icquifdj by the Scaoary of State's ofTtec have been received and b in food standing as b; as thb office is

oonoemcd.

Bustnea ID: diadd

Certiricate Ntunber; 0004$03Z87

0/b
%

£
In

o

%
V

%

K2

fN TESTIMONY WHEREOF.

I hereto set my hand and cause to be afTtzed'

the Seal of the State of New Hampshire.

thU 22nd day of April A.D. 2019.

William H. Gardner

Semtaor of State



CERTIFICATE OF VOTE

I, /^OORf'uJ '^4\;ktA;'S>g'CI^ do hereby certify that:
(Name of the elected Officer of the Agency: cannot be contract signatory)

1. I am a duly elected Officer of _ -UeA^dR-s-r- TAjr.. .
(Agency Name)

2. The following is a true copy of the resolution duly adopted at a meeting of the Board of Directors of

the Agency duly held on I j/d-Od 0 ;
(Date)

RESOLVED: That the j^/FCLyr/i/£r
(Title of Contract Signatory)

is hereby authorized on behalf of this Agency to enter into the said contract with the State and to
execute any and all documents, agreements and other instruments, and any amendments, revisions,
or modifications thereto, as he/she may deem necessary, desirable or appropriate.

3. The foregoing resolutions have not been amended or revoked, and remain in full force and effect as of

the—^ day of Of^UuA/l'^/ 20 ̂
(Date Contract Signed) T

4. j-oCtQ • is the duly elected
(Name of Contract Signatory) (Title of Contract Signatory)

of the Agency.

STATE OF NEW HAMPSHIRE

(Signature of the Elected Officer)

County of,

The foregoing instrument was acknowledged before me this

(Name of Elected Officer of the Agency)

fO  day ofCJf£/i^to^20 Qo

K  /(Notary PubHc/ stic of the Peace)

(NOTARY SEAL)

Commission Expires:
^  PATRlOIA L. JORDAN
★ NOTARY PUBLie • NEW HAMPSHIRE ★
My commission January 13, 2021

NH DHHS, Office of Business Operations
Bureau of Provider Relationship Management
Certificate of Vote Without Seal

July 1, 2005



/XCORD'

HEADINC-01

CERTIFICATE OF LIABILITY INSURANCE

LCLOUGh

DATE (MHVDtVYYYY)

7/25/2019

THIS CERTIFICATE IS ISSUED AS A MATTER OF INFORMATION ONLY AND CONFERS NO RIGHTS UPON THE CERTIFICATE HOLDER. THIS
CERTIFICATE DOES NOT AFFIRMATIVELY OR NEGATIVELY AMEND, EXTEND OR ALTER THE COVERAGE AFFORDED BY THE POLICIES
BELOW. THIS CERTIFICATE OF INSURANCE DOES NOT CONSTITUTE A CONTRACT BETWEEN THE ISSUING INSURER(S). AUTHORIZED
REPRESENTATIVE OR PRODUCER, AND THE CERTIFICATE HOLDER.

IMPORTANT: If the certificate holder Is an ADDITIONAL INSURED, the pollcy(le$) must have ADDITIONAL INSURED provisions or be endorsed.
If SUBROGATION IS WAIVED, subject to the terms and conditions of the policy, certain policies may require an endorsement. A statement on
this certificate does not confer riahts to the certificate holder in lieu of such endorsement(s).

PRODUCER

A. B. Glle, Inc.
PO Box 66
Hanover, NH 03755

e«>: (603) 643-4540 | no.:(603) 643-6382

iNSIIRERIS) AFFORDING COVERAGE NAICK

INSURER A PhlladelDhla Insurance Co.

INSURED

HeadresL Inc.

INSURER B Eastern Alliance

INSURER C

INSURER D

INSURER E

INSURER F

THIS IS TO CERTIFY THAT THE POLICIES OF INSURANCE LISTED BELOW HAVE BEEN ISSUED TO THE INSURED NAMED ABOVE FOR THE POLICY PERIOD
INDICATED. NOTWITHSTANDING ANY REQUIREMENT. TERM OR CONDITION OF ANY CONTRACT OR OTHER DOCUMENT WITH RESPECT TO WHICH THIS
CERTIFICATE MAY BE ISSUED OR MAY PERTAIN. THE INSURANCE AFFORDED BY THE POLICIES DESCRIBED HEREIN IS SUBJECT TO ALL THE TERMS.
EXCLUSIONS AND CONDITIONS OF SUCH POLICIES. LIMITS SHOWN MAY HAVE BEEN REDUCED BY PAID CLAIMS.

INSR
TYPE OF INSURANCE

ADDL
INSD

SU8R
WVO POUCY NUMBER

POLICY EFF
IMM/DDtYYYYI

POLICY EXP
IMMtDDfYYYYI LIMITS

A X

X

COMMERCIAL GENERAL UABIUTY

CLAIMS-MADE | X | OCCUR
Professional Liabilt

PHPK2011619 7/15/2019 7/15/2020

EACH OCCURRENCE
s  1,000,000

DAMAGE TO RENTED s  100,000

MFD FXP tAnv ooo oerson) s  5,000

PFRSONAl & ADV INJURY
j  1,000,000

GFNFRAI AGGRFGATE
j  3,000,000

POLICY 1_J 1_J LOG
OTHER;

PRODUCTS - rOMPXIP AGG
j  3,000,000

s

A AUTOMOBILE UABILJTY

PHPK2011619 7/15/2019 7/15/2020

COMBINED SINGLE LIMIT ,  1,000,000

X

ANYALITO BOOIl Y INJURY (Per oenonl s

OWNED
AUTOS ONLY

Al?I^ONLY

X X

SCHEDULED
AUTOS BODILY INJURY (Perecddentl t

PROPERTY DAMAGE
(Pw ecodenlT s

s

A X UMBRELLA UAB

EXCESS UAB

X OCCUR

CLAIMS-MADE PHUB685870 7/15/2019 7/15/2020

EACH OCCURRENCE s  3,000,000

AGGREGATE
j  3,000,000

OED X 1 RETENTIONS 10,000
B WORKERS COMPENSATION

AND EMPLOYERS' LIABOiTY y ̂ ̂
ANY PROPnieTORA>ARTNER/EX£CUTIVE

EXCLUDED? | Y |

It yes, descritM under
tiESCRIPTlON OF OPFRATIONR bekMr

N/A

128046 7/15/2019 7/15/2020

PER OTH-
RTATIITF FR

F I FACH ACCIDENT
j  500,000

Fl. DISFA.se-EA EMPLOYEE
j  500,000

F 1 mSFASF POLICY LIMIT
,  500,000

A BPP PHPK2011619 7/15/2019 7/15/2020 Limit 55,000

DESCRIPTION OF OPERATIONS / LOCATIONS / VEHICLES (ACORD 1(H, Additiontl R«mirht Schttfuta, may tm attach*d U mor* tpac* I* raquirtd)
Workers Compensation Covered States- 3A Part One: NH. 3C Part Three: No coverage afforded for other states. Excluded Officers: Board of Directors.

EVIDENCE OF INSURANCE

NHDHHS-BDAS

Attn: Linda J. Parker

105 Pleasant Street - Main 3rd Floor North

Concord, NH 03301

1

SHOULD ANY OF THE ABOVE DESCRIBED POLICIES BE CANCELLED BEFORE

THE EXPIRATION DATE THEREOF, NOTICE WILL BE DELIVERED IN
ACCORDANCE WITH THE POLICY PROVISIONS.

AUTHORIZED REPRESENTATIVE

ACORD 25(2016/03) ® 1988-2015 ACORD CORPORATION. All rights reserved.

The ACORD name and logo are registered marks of ACORD



Cormier, Catherine

From: Cameron Ford < cameron.ford@headrest.org >

Sent: Monday, January 6, 2020 4:15 PM

To: Cormier, Catherine

Cc: Chelsea Simpson

Subject: Re: Headrest

EXTERNAL: Do not open attachments or click on links unless you recognize and trust the sender.

To Whom it May Concern,

I Cameron J. Ford, as Executive Director, do verify Headrest is known as both "Headrest" and as "Headrest Inc".

Sincerely,

Cameron https://urldefense.com/v3/ http://J.Ford ;!!Oai6dtTQULp8Sw!H7-
JZyRfJC8h8j4UxoKlxlYH3f3Bp3K4Gg802b4YzOKscROWwhU01DzTgjY7MsQLBi9EdwtqRQ$

Cameron Ford

Executive Director

Headrest

14 Church Street

Lebanon NH 03766

603-448-4872

cameron.ford@headrest.org

https://urldefense.com/v3/ http://wwAv.headrest.org ;!!Oai6dtTQULp8Sw!H7-
JZyRfJC8h8j4UxoKlxlYH3f3Bp3K4Gg802b4YzOKscROWwhU01DzTgjY7MsQLBi-wU4gTMg$

"Give me knowledge so I may have kindness for all".

Plains Peoples Proverb



HCADREST INC. MISSION STATEMENT

"We are dedicated to assisting anyone currently dealing with a
substance use disorder, experiencing a crisis, or needing
support, by providing effective programs and treatment
regardless of ability to pay"
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INDEPENDENT AUDITORS' REPORT ON FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

To the Board of Directors
Headrest. Inc.

Lebanon, New Hampshire 03766

We have audited the accompanying financial statements of Headrest, Inc. (a nonprofit
organization),which comprise the statements of financial position as of June 30. 2018
and 2017, and the related statements of'activitles and cash flows for the years then
ended, and the related notes to the financial statements.

Management's Responsibility for the Financial Statements

Management is responsible for the preparation and fair presentation of these financial
statements in accordance with accouriting principles generally accepted in the United
States of America: this includes the design, implementation, and maintenance of intemal
control relevant to the preparation and fair-presentation of financial statements that are
free from material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error.

Auditors' Responsibility

Our responsibility is to express an opinion on these financial statements based on our
audit. We conducted our audit in accordance vnth auditing standards generally accepted
in the United States of America. Those standards require that we plan and perform the
audit to obtain reasonable assurance about whether the financial statements are free of
material misstatement.

An audit includes performing procedures to obtain audit evidence about the amounts
and disclosures in the financial statements. The procedures selected depend on the
auditor's judgment, including the assessment of the risks of material misstatement of the
financial statements, whether due to fraud or error. In making those risk assessments,
the auditor considers Intemal control relevant to the entity's preparation and fair
presentation of the financial statements in order to design audit procedures that are
appropriate in the circumstances, but not for the purpose of expressing an opinion on the
effectiveness of the entity's intemal control. Accordingly, we express no such opinion.
An audit also includes evaluating the appropriateness of accounting policies used and
the reasonableness of significant accounting estimates made by management, as well
as evaluating the overall presentation of the financial statements.

We believe that the audit evidence we have obtained Is suffictent and appropriate to

provide a basis for our audit opinion.
-1-
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Opinion

In our opinion, the financial statements referred to the above present fairly, in all material
respects, the financial position of Headrest, Inc. as of June 30, 2018 and 2017, and the
changes in its net assets and its cash flows for the years then ended in accordance with
accounting principles generally accepted in the United States of America.

Other Matter

Our audit was conducted for the purpose of forming an opinion on the financial
statements taken as a whole. The schedule of functional expenses on page 11 is
presented for purposes of additional analysis and is not a required part of the basic
financial statements. Such information is the responsibility of management and was
derived from and relates directly to the underlying accounting and other records used to
prepare the financial statements. The inform^ion has been subjected to the auditing
procedures applied in the audit of the financial statements and certain additional
procedures. Including comparing artd reconciling such information directly to the
underlying accounting and other records used to prepare the financial statements
themselves, and other additional procedures in accordance with auditing standards
generally accepted in the United States of America, in our opinion, the information is
fairly stated In all material respects In relation to the basic financial statements taken as
a whole.

Wheeler, Ring, Dolan & Dupuis, PC

jyiy. Votan (T "Dupuis, iPC

Manchester, N. H. 03104
November 15, 2018

-2-



HEADREST. INC.
STATEMENTS OF FINANCIAL POSITION

JUNE 30. 2010 AND 2017

Assets 2m 2017

CURRENT ASSETS

Cash

Accounts Receivable

Prepaid expenses

11,920
76.558
4.078

$ 54,698
• 45,624

■  5.456

Total current assets 92.556 105.776

Assets Limited as to Use 35.460

PROPERTY AND EQUIPMENT

Larid 19.010
Building and Improvements 241,037
Furniture, fixtures and equipment 146.687

Total property and equipment 406.734
Less accumulated depreciation 316.003

90.731

OTHER ASSETS, loan origination fee,
net of Amortization 2018 and 2017 627

TOTAL ASSETS S219 374

26,184

19,010
229,467
■146.687
395.164
307.563

87.601

2^

£228J15

See Independent Auditors' Report and Notes to Financial Statements
-3-
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HEADREST, INC.

STATEMENTS OF FINANCIAL POSITION
(continued)

JUNE 30. 2018 AND 2017

2018 2017

LIABILITIES AND NET ASSETS

CURRENT LIABLITIES
Accounts Payable $ 3.074 $ 6.483
Notes payable and current portion of
Long-term debt 9,439 8,189

Line of Credit 60,000
Accnjed payroll and related expenses 27 015 33-156

Total Current Liabilities 99,528 47,828

LONG-TERM DEBT, net of current portion 45.589 55.149

Total liabilities 145.117 102.977

NET ASSETS

Unrestricted net assets 74.257 117.338

TOTAL LIABILITIES AND NET ASSETS £219 374 . £220 315

See Independent Auditors' Report and Notes to Financial Statements
-4-



n

HEADREST. INC.

STATEMENTS OF ACTIVITIES AND CHANGES IN NET ASSETS
YEARS ENDED JUNE 30, 2018 AND 2017

2018 2017

REVENUE AND SUPPORT
•  .

State contracts $ 255,479 $263,344

Local government grants 103,017 100,684

Private foundations 130,000 35,000
r-t

United Way 6,667 10,602

Service fees 285,425 191,395

Contributions 113,526 126,707
— Interest arid dividend income .  45 84

Total revenue and support 894.159 747.816

EXPENSES

Program Services:
Outpatient 540,797 468,991

CMRD 219.610 192.731

Total program sen/ices 760.4P7 661722

Supporting Services:
138,586General and administrative 156,284

Fundraising 20.549 16.939

Total supporting service 176.833 155.525

Total expenses 937.240 817.247

— Increase (Decrease) in Unrestricted Net Assets (43,081) (69,431)

Unrestricted Net Assets, beginning of year 117.338 186.769

Unrestricted Net Assets, end of year & $ 117.338

See Independent Auditors' Report and Notes to Financial Statements
-5-
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HEADREST, INC.

i

STATEMENTS OF CASH FLOWS

YEARS ENDED JUNE 30, 2018 AND 2017

"—1
2*018 2017

1

CASH FLOWS FROM OPERATING ACTIVITIES
Increase (Decrease) In Net Assets $(43,081) $(69,431)

1

Adjustments to reconcile excess of revenues
and support over expenses to net cash
provided by operating activities:
Depreciation and amortization

Changes in operating assets and liabilities:
(Increase) Decrease in assets limited as to use
(Increase) Decrease in accounts receivable
(Increase) Decrease in prepaid expenses
Increase (Decrease) in accounts payable
Increase (Decrease) in line of credit
Increase (Decrease) In accrued expenses

8,567

(9.276)
(30,934)

1,378
(3.409)
60,000
(6.141^

8,959

24,943
39,319

(  1.627)
3,869

10:702

Net Cash Provided (Used) by Operating Activities 122.896^ 16.734

—

CASH FLOWS FROM INVESTING ACTIVITIES

Purchase of capital assets (11.570) (1.651)

—

CASH FLOWS FROM FINANCING ACTIVITIES

Repayments of long-term notes payable 18.3101 18.8711

Net Increase (Decrease) in Cash (42,776) 6,212

Cash at Beginning of Year, unrestricted 54.696- 48.484

Cash at End of Year, unrestricted

SUPPLEMENTAL SCHEDULE OF CASH FLOW

INFORMATION

S  11920 S 54 696

J

Cash paid during the years for
Interest £  4.483 $ 3 107

See independent Auditors' Report and Notes to Financial Statements
-6-
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HEADREST, INC.
NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

YEARS ENDED JUNE 30, 2018 AND 2017

t  NOTE 1 - NATURE OF ORGANIZATION

Headrest, Inc. ('Headrest') is a New Hampshire nonprofit coiporation that
n  provides information and referral, crisis intervention and other related services

through the use of a telephone hotline and office visitations. Headrest also
provides counseling and emergency shelter to transients, and Information to the
community relating to drugs and alcohol.

NOTE 2 - SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES

The summary of significant accounting policies of Headrest is presented to assist
in understanding the Organization's financial statements. The financial

~  statements and notes are representations of Headrest's management who is
responsible for their integrity and objectivity. These accounting policies conform
to U.S. generally accepted accounting principles and have been consistently

—  applied In the preparation of the financial statements.

The financial statements of Headrest have been prepared on the accrual basis of
accounting. The significant accounting policies followed are described below.

Financial statement presentation

Financial statement presentation follows the recommendations of the Financial
Accountir^g Standards Board in Its Statement of Financial Accounting Standards
(SFAS) No. 117, "Rnandal Statements of Not-for^Profrt Organizations". Under

"  SFAS No. 117. Headrest Is required to report information regarding Its finandal
position and activities according to three dasses of net assets: unrestricted net
assets, temporarily restricted net assets, and permanently restricted net assets.

Unrestricted net assets are comprised of operating revenues and
expenses and contributions pledged which are not subject to any donor-
imposed restrictions. Headrest, Inc. currently has $74,257 and $117,338
unrestricted net assets as of June 30.2018 and 2017, respectively.

Temporaiv restricted net assets are comprised of contributions and gifts
for which donor-imposed restrictions will be met either by the passage of
time or the actions of the Organization. Headrest. Inc. currently has no
temporarily restricted net assets as of June 30, 2018 and 2017.
respectively.

-7-
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HEADREST, INC.

NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
YEARS ENDED JUNE 30. 2018 AND 2017

NOTE 2 - SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (CONTINUED)

Permanently restricted net assets include those assets for which donor-imposed
restrictions stipulate that the asset be permanently maintained by the

n  Organization. Headrest. Inc. has no permanently restricted net assets as of
June 30. 2018 and 2017.

Use of estimates - The preparation of.fmancial statements in conformity with
generally accepted accounting principies requires management to make
estimates and assumptions that affe^ certain reported amounts and disclosures.
Accordingly, actual results could differ from those estimates.

•Cash equivalents - For purposes of the statement of cash flows, Headrest
considers all short-term investments with an original matuilty of three months or
less to be cash equivalents. At June 30, 2018 and 2017 there were no cash
equivalents.

Assets limited as to use

Assets Limited as to Use represent board-designated assets for capital
expenditures and reserves amounting to $35,460 and $26,184 at June 30.2018
and 2017. Assets limited to use consist of cash and cash .equivalents however
these amounts have not been included In cash and cash equivalents for cash
flow purposes.

Allowance for doubtful accounts - Headrest considers accounts receivable to be

fully collectible, accordingly, no allowance for doubtful accounts is required.

Depredation and fixed assets - Property and equipment are stated at cost if
purchased and at fair market value on the date of the donations if donated.
Assets donated with explicit restrictions regarding their use and contributions of
cash that must be used to acquire property and equipment are reported as
restricted or temporarily restricted support. Absent donor stipulations regarding
how long those donated assets must be maintained. Headrest reports expirations
of donor restrictions when the donated or acquired assets are placed in service
as instructed by the donor. Headrest redassifies temporarily restricted net
assets to unrestricted net assets at that time. Depreciation is computed using
straight-line and accelerated methods based on the estimated useful life of each
asset. Estimated useful fives used for building and improvements are ten to
thirty- nine years and for furniture and fixtures three to seven years.

Public-support and revenue - All contributions are considered to be available or

unrestricted use unless specifically restricted by the donor.

-8-
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HEADREST, INC.
NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

YEARS ENDED JUNE 30. 2018 AND 2017

NOTE 2 - SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES. (CONTINUED)

Income taxes - The Organization Is a not-for-profit organization that is exempt
from Income taxes under Section 501^3) of the Internal Revenue Code and
classified by the Internal Revenue Service as other than a private foundation.

The Organization adopted the recognition-requirements for uncertain income tax
positions as required by generally accepted accounting principles, with no
cumulative effect adjustment required. Income tax benefits are recognized for
income tax positions taken or expected to be taken in a tax return, only when it Is
determined that the income tax position will more -likely-than-not be sustained
upon examination by taxing authorities. The Organization has analyzed tax
positions taken for filing with the Intemai Revenue Service arid the state
jurisdiction where it operates. 'The Organization believes that income tax filing
positions will be sustained upon examination and does not anticipate any
adjustments that would result in a material adverse affect on the Organization's
financial condition, results of operations or cash flov^. Accordingly, the
Organization has not recorded any reserves, or related accruals for interest and
penalties for uncertain income tax positions at June 30. 2018.

Donated services and materials - Donated supplies and equipment are reflected
as cohtributions in the accompanying financial statements at their estimated fair
market values.

Functional expenses - Functional and administrative expenses have been
allocated among program services based on an analysis of personnel time and
space utilized for the activities.

NOTE 3-LINE OF CREDIT

The Organization has a $100,000 line of credit with a local bank through January
30. 2019, collateralized by all assets, with interest at Wall Street Journal prime.
There were outstanding balance of $60,000 and $0 at June 30. 2018 or 2017.

NOTE 4 - NOTES PAYABLE AND LONG-TERM DEBT

Notes payable and long-term debt consisted of the June June
following as of: 2018 2017

Mortgage note payable with bank with interest
at 4.5% dated July 31, 2003 and due July 15, 2023
with monthly installments of principal and interest
of $1,030, secured by all assets of the organization. $ 55.028 $ 63.338

Less current maturities :. ,9.439 ' .6.189

Long-term debt, less current maturity; $ 45.589 $ 55.149
-9-
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HEADREST, INC.

NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

YEARS ENDED JUNE 30. 2018 AND 2017

NOTE 4 - NOTES PAYABLE AND LONG-TERM DEBT (CONTINUED)

Scheduled principal repayments on long-term debt for the next five years and thereafter follows:

Year Ending
June 30

2019 $ 9,439 I
2020 9,996 |
2021 10.586

2022 11,211
2023 11,873
Thereafter 1.923

Total S 55 028

NOTE 5 - COMPENSATED ABSENCES

Employees of Headrest are entitled to paid personal days depending on length of
service and other factors. The accrued expense for compensated absences for the
fiscal years ended June 30, 2018 and 2017 were $13.077and $23,092 respectively. No
more than 240, 180 and 120 hours for full time. V* time and % time employees,
respectively, of personal leave may be carried over from the previous year's employment
calculated on a calendar year basis.

NOTE 6 - MAJOR GRANTORS

A Substantial portion of Headrest's revenue comes from the Department of Heath and
Human Services of the State of New Hampshire. For the years ended June 30, 2018
and 2017 revenue from the contract was approximately 23% and 30%, respectively of
total revenue.

NOTE 7 - EVALUATION OF SUBSEQUENT EVENTS

The Organization has evaluated subsequent events through November 15. 2018, the
date which the financial statements were available to be issued.

-10-
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Cameron Ford

EDUCATION

B.S. degree, Organizational Management, Daniel Webster College, Nashua, NH
Certificate, Human Services, NH Technical College, Manchester, NH ■

professional experience

April 20J 7-Present
Executive Director, Headrest Inc,

Headrest is a non-profit community orgamioiion focusing on addiction and crisis •»
assistance since J97I. Services include 24 hour Hotline, Outpatient Counseling, a
Tronsitionol Living program, and Outreach and Community Education.

I provide leadership and direction as the senior exrcvnVe to the organization Responsible
formonitoring the quality and effectiveness of the agency programs and set^ices. and •
provide effective leadership in the operations ofthe organixoiion. Serve as a liaison for the
agency within the community. Responsible for the overallfinancial health of the
organizotion Maintain oversight and compliance with state, federal andgrontfunding.
Collaborate with other agencies to provide efficient services.
August 20!S to Present* ,
Founder, CEO tron Heart Gateways to Success
Iron Heart is a rton-profit dedicated to helping Veterans and peoplefacing barriers to
employmentftnd and maintain living wage jobs with sustoinabUity opportunities. As co*
founder of this organization, I am committed to every individual that comes through the
door to help them make life changing choices regarding employment, financial literacy
and education.

February 2014 to June 201S*
Executive Director, Granite Pathways
Gnmitr PaOnoa^s is a peer*support, selfhelp community that provides hope and dignity to adults
with mental illness. The mission ofGranite Pathioays ̂  to empower and support adults with
mental illness to pursue their persorud goals through education, employmen t, stable housing,
roxvarding oduevements, end meaning^l rebtionships- U does that by/bUowing the aerti/ication
standards of the International Center for Qubhouse Development (ICCD,), which define en .
evidence-based model of rehabilitation that odueves superior empbyment and rzaooery outcomes.

•  Responsible for the overall management of the orgamzotior\ induding sbffdevelopment,
strategic pbnning, fiscal management, and growth.

• Maintain sbkehotder rebtionships, Establish, developed, and mainloined
collaborative relationships withfoundations and funding sources



•  Inotasedmembefshxp at the clubhouse by
•  Incnased number ofem^oyed members by 60% —^
•  Completed training at an ICCO certified training Center (Genesis, \^rce5ter Mass.)

February 2004 to March 2013-
Execuiive DirectOff MY TURN Ina
The MY TURNprogram provides services lo approximately 800 students per year through
both in school and out ofschool programs. The programs provide educatiortal
advancement opportunities, dropout prevention, and include services such as community
service learning, tutoring and study skills, employment skills training, mentoring, college
preparation, leadership, and guidance and counseling. The major iry of funding for the
organisation is through WIA funds in partnership with local workforce boards. My
position iniiiolly covered the NH region until I was promoted in 20JI to manage the entire
organisation.

•  Administered and oversaw the growth andfiscal management and operations of the
MYTURN Organization in New Hampshire and Massachusetts. Responsibilities
included Board, Development. Strategic planning, fundraising and program
development. Position reported to the CEO.

• Established, developed, and maintained colloborative relationship's with
foundations, workforce boards and funding sources, and high demand labor market
industries.

•  Successfully expanded the marketing of the program to and created partnerships
with schools, community colleges. Chambers of Commerce, local civic
organizations, state vision teams and economic development groups.

• Explored and developed sustainable avenues for finding.and for the growth and
continuous improvement of the MY TURN programs through financial
■collaborations with schools and higher education entities, grant writing and
responding to RFP's

• Managed and motivated 18-20 staff throughout the region including all aspects of
human resources.

• Responsible for Regional Board Development. Strategic planning fundraising oncl
program development. Position reports to the CEO.

Oa 1994-AprU 2004-
Work Opportunities Unlimited Inc., Director of Youth Development

\

• Oversaw the operation of the Youth Career Program for adjudicatedyouth that
includedpeer and family groups, carter focused jobs for youth, adventwe-bosed
octivities such as hikes, camping trips, deep-sea fishing and experiential based
group activities. This program was. highly regarded in New England or an
alternative to placement for adjudicated youth. During my leadership, this program
averaged a 9% recidivism rote.

• Created and estabiished new state marketing tofijnding sources and indusr^. -v
development and implementation of the Youth Career Program that assisted



adjudicated and at risk youth in Workforce Devehpmeru and youth development
activities. Trained new directors arid staff. Conrributed to the strategic plan'
process for growth ofthe youth programs within the organization a^ developed
strategies for expansion into new states. During my leadership, this program
received recognition as a Promising Effective Practices Program frdm the National
Youth Employment Coalition in Washington DC

Responsible for the management offive offices in N.H. and the supervision of as
many as 18 staff. Directly involved in hiring of staff, training and support, and
program growth. Developed and consistently exceeded yearly program recruiting
operational and financial goals through a strategic planning process.

March mS-Oct S994^

Work Opportunities Unlimited Inc, Concord NM Employment Representative

• Responsible for job development activitiesfor youth and adults with disabilities.
Worked with Counselors from Vocotionol Rehobilitotion, Area Agencies and local
schools. Carried a caseload of 45 clients that included adults and youth from,
schools and the Youth Development Center. Maintained an 80% success ratefor
placements.

yolunteer Associations-

• Co-Chair. Manchester Continuum of Core
• • Past Board Chair, Girls at Work, Non-Profit Organization that engages girls in

non-traditional work experiences, with emphasis on the consthiclion field
• Queen City Rotary Club
• Boardof Directors, Helping Hands. Manchester NH

Achievctnents/Awards-

• St. Anselm College Presidents'Community Partner Award
•  "EntrepreneurshipJOJAword" National Consortium for Entrepreneurship

Education ., •

• National Youth Employment Coalition's Nerw Leaders Academy Class of2000.
Certifications-
• Natipnal Foundation for Teaching Entrepreneurship
• CESP. Natipnaliy Certified Supported Employment Support Professional
• Clubhouse Administrative Training Certification. 2015, Genesis, Worcester Mass.

References- Available upon requeti
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TAMARA PLEURY

22 Ash Swamp Brook Road
Croydon, 03773, New Hampshire. US
Phone: 603-372-6266

OBJECTIVE

E-mail: tamflrBhnwarri??<agm«ll rr>m

A self-starter with exceilent organizational skills and a strong work ethic I am seeking a challenging and diverse
position worldng with a nor>-profit organization.

WORK EXPERIENCE

Hotiine Coordinator

February 6,2018-PRESENT
Headrest, Inc Lebanon, NH

Provide ongoing supervision of the 24/7 Suidde/Crisis Hotline staff. I provide clinical supervision (as directed by the
Clinical Dbector) nranage schedules and training, complete performance evaluations and fadDtate regular Hotline
staff meetings. Oversee CommuniQr Outreach Program and coordination of services throughout the region.

Home Provider

March 2012-April 2016
Independent Services Network, Claremont

My husband Md l provided a home and dally assistance, care and guidance for a 52 yr old spedal needs gentleman
w^m lived with us. I introduced him to new people and places in the community as well as supporting and
advocMng for him in all aspects of his daily living. I also transported/accompanied him to medical appointments
maintained daily logs, submitted monthly Progress Reports, and participated In annual ISA's & gtnto Certiflcatioris.

Sales Spedaiist
Lowes Claremont, NH

March 2010 - December 201J.

is, ® ̂ 2° n"® ®P®^ist I educated, assisted and advised customers in choosing the best product for their needs. Ifollowed all sales from purchase to Install; Order Management

Store Manager^stimator
Serenity Carpets. Croydon, NH

January 2003 - February 2010

business operations including management and supervision of employees, direct sales
adwrtlsing, bookkeeping (including cash transactions), purchasing and scheduling of goods and services

"^^"8 diagrams and presented flooring

Flooring Estimator
2002

May 1999 - December
Home Depot & Dan's Floor Store, Londonderry, NH

^^ng a sut«ontractor I scheduled and conducted home visits in order to prepare flooring
estimates. Very detail oriented work requiring precise diagramming, calcuiating, and much public contact

Case Technician

Department of Corrections, Laconia, NH
May 1991 • July 1993

m  P'^*^°"^arole I supervised all court ordered restitution cases. Interviewed subjects,prepared reports, attended home visits with Probation officers & testified at court hearings.



special Deputy/Bailiff
August 1989 - April 1991
Belknap County Sheriffs Office, Laconia, NH .

Assigned to Belknap County Superior Court I performed court security- working closely with Judges, Clerks and
Attorneys. I served Writs and Summons. I also transported Judges, Juries and Prisoners. Armed

MiHtary Police
June 1980 • June 1983
US ARMY ACTIVE DUTY Ft Hood & Hohenfels

Assigned to Criminal Investigation Division at Ft Hood I conducted Investigations, Interviewed subjects & prepared
detailed reports. My duties Induded routine Police Patrols. Armed

EDUCATION

Bachelor's Degree,
January 1994 - December 1997
BA Sociology/Criminal Justice Minor In Business (3.67 CPA) UNCW Wilmington NC

CERTIRCATIONS

CMA (Certified Medical Assistant) #2467725
June 9,2014 River Valley Community College, Claremont NH
AAMA (American Association of Medical Assistants)

REFERENCES AVAILABLE UPON REQUEST
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M. KATHLEEN RUSSO BS, LADC, LCS

Substance Abuse Counselinq

oifiicni Dtwgtm. MgADRECT: ubanon, HH; Supervl^on d Low-lntensfty R^enttel Trestment progrem,
Supeivttton of Outpsttent scrvlcss, Oevetopment of new (Icensed counselors, oqandlng Sutstanoe Abuse Servttes tn
the Upper VaOey, August 2016 to present

inrfgpendgni figittmi lui i September 2006 to present

•  Oiftpatignt Thefwatst: RTT Associates, Concord, FadUtstlng fbrendo group, woildrtg with Fedem)
and State probattorVparole dlents, ass mar\a9ement, conducting evahstlons end outpattent sutdttna
atwse courtseflng. Part-dme. January'07-tD February 2011.

.  Nbw Hampship Tsghnlni Inrtrtute: Adtunfl InStnxSa. tauaht Grouo CounsePno and
Psychopharmaoologv,
Spring "2007 •

«  atnfcal Stmervtsor Keystone Hal! Nashua, NK. B* 10 hours pier week ̂uovidtngdinkalsupefvislDn to-
counselors worttng coward Doensuro. vyoiklr^ tn the crisis IrttervehttocV soMety malntBrtana progrsm.
Member of treatmcTTt team arid Batson with admlnistrstton. MonUortd fbr corhpuartde with stbte reguladuj^
June 2006 • Mard) 2007

*  Prtvate PnwHoB! washta locatton for five years,-pert^lme. Wortdng wfth referrets from attomeylB ofRces,
OWI oounseOng and aftercare. Department of Trwuportatton.evatuBtlons. oonsuQation wQh f^ndDestoiisdst
with tntejventtons as wtO as group counseling. TTaon private pratSce sln^ Jufy 2006, with stmOar cflentete.
Managing business budget for ftve years. Closed Nashua cfflce In March 2008. Currently in Wvate FrecOoe
InTTKon, NH.-

PfrxteT of Pehahtntetfon Seivtees; Harmony First. Bedford, NH. October 2000 to September 2006
Developed end Implen^ted a successful Intensive Outpatient treatment program for Harmony First, Bcdfbrd, NH.
Provided lOP services, group and IndMdual therapy. Assessed patterrts fOr ptacement In Outpatient OettuifiatlDn
sovloes wlih medlcBi staff at this toeadorv Movtd^ ueabrient planning and*case management to aO patients.
F^ltated FamOy Education Groups to oom^ment this program. Provided utUtzation rovlews with Insurance
cornpantes, sharing dinical informatiai fOr relmbursernent Aesponsibia for fteUng crisis Intervention calls fbr
ptaoemdrt Into detwIBcatiun and treatment servtc^ Provided fbntmes and loved ones with tiiterveiftiun services and
referrals.

Qutpatient •yhefnotet. BiichwDOd Counseling; Nashua; NH October 1998 to October 2002
Conducted group therapy, IndMduU therapy and evaluations. Worloed wQh Community Atoohol Inftarmatfon program
dients and other referral agendes to esist vAh DWI aftercare reqidremehb, provided sut>scance abuse services for
referrals from Department of Child and Famby Services.

cnnieal SimeTvfsof! Roode Avenue AehabOitBdon Center and Treatment Aftematlves to Street Crtmes, Qxmberbnd
County Mental Health Cerrter, and FayettevIOe,NC-1996-1997 '
Provided dOnical supervtdon for In-pattent crtsh sttbitean center, provided dinita) supervision to
Otmlnal Justice IrrtenSve Out patient Treatment Program, Treatment Ate natives to Street Crimes, CUmbertand
County Mehtal Kea^J^adOtated Dual Diagnosis outpatient treatment groups, provided consultatian services tp
Intensfvis Probation end Parole, State of North Caroilna. Provided Consultation services to Day Reporting Center,
Cumbdand County, NC Lead Clinical Substance Abuse Counselor fbr high- risk treatment rases, provided In-service
training and staff development training.



Chfemtcal Deogftdgnof Qpunggtor Locked and Open Acute Psycklstitc UnRs; Cb{K Fear Vaney Medlca) Center;
Fayeitevt[te,NCOotDber.l992'MBrct>(996.
CoonSnatsd and pr^ed Education and Consuttstlon services for open and locked inpattent psyckiatrlc units. (
Pro^ddcd ConsuIPrtton services tn a Cdunty Medical Center .tz> mediol/surglcal. labor/deDvery. orthopedics and 6YN
patl^ for the hospital physlctans. Provided Education and ConsuQatton setvtoes to Adoiesoems in a ScMjady
Troubled Youth Program, provided Substance abuse counseflng are) management services for a RestdenOal
Treatment Program Inpatlent psyphtatrl^aa/te care program. Responsible for case management and discharge
planning of all psttents In as hosplbi'programs.

EmQlmre^ Asifstwhcft Pmowifi^ Coti^CTlar ̂  Fear Valley Medical center, FayettevQle, NC
' Responsible for tdentlflcatlon ar\d asse^ent of performance based persenne). problems and chemical
dep^enqr Iss^ as an EmpCoyee Asststanoe Program Cpurrsefor.
catninii Suoenrfkor. Cbpe'Fear VaOey.Treatmettt Center, Feyetsevtlle, NC
' Developed And. Implemented Quality Assurance Imprdvement program for an Intendve Outpatient
Treatment program. SuperSdsed an outpatient treatment staff of live provkllng direct patient care.
fififiOtionlBl' Management, Inpatlent ScrvKa^ C^ Fear Valley Medol Cerrter
Coordinator of serMces for an InpatleRt ̂ tn Management Treatment ̂ ogram
ftdBtated muttMbmSy, couples arvl women's groups, provided individual therapy
FecfStated Atetaro and Rdapse Prevention groups.

Owmlcai Deperrdengw Counselor; Tdpier Army Medical .Center, Department of Psychiatry. Schoheid Barracks. HI
I98&-I99a

Provided sodBl work, psychologlal, treatment and consultation servloes to Alcohol and Drug dqxndcnt; military,
dvfltan pessorvttl and ramOy me/htiers In refvbflltatton. Corxlucted (rrdMdual and group therapy.
frtMded case rranagementservfCBS for military personnel arid th^ ftmOy members while In trestment
Mcmtier of treatment plarmtng team for inpattM end outpatient, US Army Drug and Alcohol program
Coordinated devdopment and conducted psydio/soctal assesorrents In dinlcal setting

CacawprlTCT Suagryteer Anyrtran M Cmn Si»Tvir» m kfrn»ti t* oit nr (986.1988. .
Supervised and trained casewoikcrs fOr Services to the Armed Forces, Amerksn Red Oo& Rcrvtded noBlfcxBlon
scr>rioes to service membds of family emeipendes and provided' flnarrd^ asslstame with Red Ooss guhleflnes.
Member of the Board of Directors for the Amertan Red Ooss RedpJent of the Oara Barton award for VoluntBetsm.

Pmanrn pinrgtennwnt wid Manaoamgfit
♦ 'Develop end ftenaged. Intensive Outpabent Treatment Program. Kamronyflrst, 2000 to 2006
« Developed Family Education Program to adjunct the Intensive Outpatient Program 2000 to 200S
o Developed group theram'program far owi offenders b) 9 prtvate practice seBlng, 1998^2001
♦ Deroloped, designed end implemented Interrshro Outpatient Treatment Program, Treatment Alternatives to

Sreet Crtmea, Day Reporting Gerrter, Cumberterrd County Mental Health, FayettevOi ICC199S-1997
♦ Detdoped and Implemented Chemica) Oependency Education for In-patient Adolesodnt Servloes, Oimbetland

Hospital, FayettevliliB, NC -1994-1996
^ Developed and tmplunented screening toots for acute Irvpatlent psyddatdc nursing for ateohd and drug

dependent patlerAs
♦ ♦ Designed and Implemented Relapse Prmitlon Program for Inpatlent Patn Management Mogrom, Cape Fear

vaQey Media) Center, FayeQevflle, NC-1992-1996 -
Designed and Implemented Aiooho) and Drug Treatrrvent Aogram for U5. Arrrryls Regtonal Conftnement FadOty:
Ft OX - February 1992-June 1992 -•

♦ Desfgrted and Implemented Irtenslvc Outpatient Titatmoit nrogram for the'U.S. Army^ Alcohol and Drug Abuse
Rcvendon and Control fVogram, Sdtofleld Barrads, HI 1969-1992

o Designed Alcohol and Drug Preventlor) Program for the American Red Cros: ft sm, OX 1986-1988

eAtatHm

« BS., Sodai Sdena Education: Plymouth State CoOcga, 683
♦ 2-wedc vating Profossl^ Course; Tripter Army MedlctJ Center, TW-SARF; Horwumi. HI
^ U.S. Army Akshol and Drug RehabJIJtatton Training, ft Sam Houston, TX Individual course lA-days; Group _

Course 14 -days; Advana.Counsdmg Course, 7 6»yi ^ .
^ I year intermhlp program, U.SArrrty,SeholWd8BrT8da; Ml 1989



CertfBcflliMi
^ New Kampshlre. LADC «CH45
^ New HampsMit ICS
« Cefttfled US. Department of Trwtsportadon Substance Abuse Prefbsstonal, Qment
0 US Anny. HeaOb Services Command. 1989
0 Hawafl, Certtfted Substance Abuse Courtsdor; dSSl • 1990
♦ North Carolina Certsftcd Substance Abuse Counselor di096 • L998

Ptpfeggrpnal AcMrfiiWfw

NAADAC 1986-present
NHAOACA Seaetaiy 200^2004
NH Provtde/s Assodaflon - Current

NHADACA-current
BoerO member of the NH Board of Ucensing of Alconai and other Dnig AOuse Pioteastonel Ap^ 2016- Cuncnt-
C^Chatr of Integrated SUD/;il5 Wavteroinent



Headrest inc

Key Personnel

Name Job Title Salary % Paid from Amount Paid from

this Contract this Contract

Cameron Ford Executive Director $75,000 15% $11,250

Kathleen Russo Clinical Director $72,000 25% $18,000

Tamie Fleury Hotline Manager $42,000 100% $42,000

Chelsea Simpson Business Manager $45,000 15% $6,750

$78,000

i


